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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: This afternoon

          3  we will consider Intro. 142, which prohibits the use

          4  of racial or ethnic profiling by members of the

          5  Police Department and other law enforcement

          6  agencies.

          7                 We will also hear testimony regarding

          8  the NYPD's current policies and procedures regarding

          9  racial profiling.

         10                 At the beginning of 2002,

         11  Commissioner Kelly issued Operations Order 11, which

         12  reminds officers of the NYPD's policy that the use

         13  of characteristics, such as religion, age, gender,

         14  gender identity, or sexual orientation, as the

         15  determinative factor for taking police action is

         16  prohibited.

         17                 Recently, in September 2003, the NYPD

         18  agreed to settle a case whereby plaintiffs, who

         19  alleged that the NYPD unlawfully stopped them based

         20  on their race.

         21                 As part of the settlement, the NYPD,

         22  which denied it had or currently has a policy of

         23  racial profiling, agreed to, among other things,

         24  audit the officers and supervisors who engaged in

         25  stop and frisks to determine whether the stop and
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          2  frisks were based on reasonable suspicion.

          3                 The settlement further requires

          4  annual in-service training for members of the force

          5  under the Department's racial profiling policy, and

          6  public information and outreach to inform

          7  communities about the Department's policy on

          8  citizens' rights.

          9                 Intro. 142, sponsored by Chairman

         10  Reed, would amend the Administrative Code by making

         11  it illegal for police officers, or any other law

         12  enforcement officers to engage in racial profiling.

         13                 The bill also imposes certain

         14  reporting requirements and sets forth the discipline

         15  that may be imposed by the Police Commissioner and

         16  other law enforcement agencies for breaches of this

         17  responsibility.

         18                 I'm interested today in hearing

         19  whether the current Department policy against racial

         20  profiling should be codified. I'm also interested in

         21  the views on the bill's definition of racial

         22  profiling, which differs from that in the Police

         23  Commissioner's Operations Order.

         24                 Although the bulk of the bill deals

         25  with the Police Department, I know Chairman Reed
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          2  also wishes to include other law enforcement

          3  agencies, and we are still grappling with the best

          4  way to define them. And any assistance from anyone

          5  who is testifying in that area will be helpful.

          6                 Let me make it clear. The NYPD does

          7  not racially profile. We have the most professional

          8  Police Department, from the top, from the

          9  Commissioner right down to the men and women on the

         10  street, in the entire world, I believe. However, I

         11  also know as a former prosecutor that there are

         12  individual police officers who racially profile. And

         13  even if that's .01 percent, .01 percent of a 37,000

         14  member police force is 37 officers, that's 37 too

         15  many. And that's what the purpose of this hearing is

         16  all about, to find out what's being done and what

         17  needs to be done to eradicate that small percentage.

         18                 Let me now first introduce the

         19  Council members who are here today. We have to my

         20  far left Sarah Gonzalez, Erik Dilan, and on my

         21  right, Councilman Hiram Monserrate, and Phil Reed,

         22  who has introduced this bill and who I turn to now

         23  for an opening statement.

         24                 Mr. Reed.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you very
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          2  much, Mr. Chair.

          3                 I appreciate that we are having this

          4  hearing today. This is a bill, certainly as it

          5  relates to an important issue in the City, that I

          6  had actually introduced in the latter part of 2001,

          7  in what is referred to as the old Council. After the

          8  events of September that year and with the

          9  changeover of the leadership here, both in the

         10  Mayor's Office, and also here in the Chamber, many

         11  of us felt that it was just not the right time for

         12  us to be talking about something that had the

         13  potential for dividing people. It was also given the

         14  experience that we had had in the previous

         15  administration, much of which is the reason why we

         16  had felt the need to introduce the bill.

         17                 But having a new Mayor, have a new, a

         18  new new Police Commissioner, in the sense that we

         19  had seen Commissioner Kelly before, we wanted to

         20  give them an opportunity without what could be a

         21  divisive issue to demonstrate the leadership.

         22                 And I want to go on record today to

         23  make sure that people understand that my strong

         24  sense as an individual, as a member of the public,

         25  as well as an elected official, is that much of the
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          2  issue that we saw so inflamed communities and the

          3  dialogue, or lack of it, from communities with the

          4  Administration no longer exists.

          5                 So, the Bloomberg Administration, and

          6  certainly Commissioner Kelly, I think is to be

          7  applauded for the efforts that they've made.

          8                 So, this introduction today has

          9  nothing to do with trying to cast aspersions or to

         10  suggest that the Police Department is not doing

         11  anything and all that they should.

         12                 The concern remains, however, about

         13  the issue of racial profiling, and as I expressed to

         14  the Police Commissioner himself, it is terrific that

         15  he has put together this, what I'll call Operations

         16  Order No. 11. I think that this is sort of right in

         17  the direction of where this bill goes, but easy come

         18  and easy go. If the Administration changes, if the

         19  Police Commissioner changes, this order may no

         20  longer be in effect.

         21                 What I think we're trying to do here

         22  as elected officials is to make this the rule and

         23  the law of the City of New York so that we're not

         24  left to the whim or the political direction that

         25  some Mayor or some Police Commissioner may feel will
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          2  fit the suit of their current style.

          3                 We don't want to have that. We want

          4  to say on record that it is against the law in the

          5  City of New York to racially profile people, whether

          6  it be the Police Department, or any other

          7  enforcement agency, and certainly in light of fact

          8  of 9/11, when I think we find so many of our

          9  citizens fearful that because of the way they look,

         10  the way they dress, that they may be considered a

         11  terrorist, they may be considered something, and

         12  they don't feel comfortable, they don't feel safe to

         13  be who they are on the streets of New York.

         14                 So, that's why we put this bill

         15  together, it is really more than in opposition to

         16  the practices of the Police Department today. And

         17  I'm looking forward to hearing the testimony, and

         18  certainly the opportunity that the Chair has

         19  provided us, and if there's language we need to

         20  readjust to make it more adaptable, I'm looking

         21  forward to having that happen.

         22                 Thank you very much.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

         24  Council Member Reed.

         25                 Let me also introduce Council Member
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          2  Foster, who has just arrived and who is co-chair of

          3  our minority caucus here at the Council, along with

          4  Council Member Monserrate. Black, Latino and Asian

          5  Caucus, I made the first faux pas of the meeting I

          6  guess.

          7                 Council Member Monserrate was one of

          8  the plaintiffs in a recent suit against the Police

          9  Department for, not exactly racial profiling, but

         10  for discrimination within the Police Department,

         11  which is not the subject of this hearing, but which

         12  may actually be the subject of a future one, based

         13  on what the Council Member has determined.

         14                 So we have as our first panel, Chief

         15  Edwin Young, who is responsible for the Police

         16  Department policies in this area; Deputy Chief John

         17  Gerrish, and Deborah Zoland from the Legal Bureau,

         18  who is the attorney in charge of the recent Daniels

         19  case, which resulted in much of the Police

         20  Department's present policy.

         21                 So, you may begin at any time. And

         22  I'm also aware that you only have until 2:30 today.

         23                 ASSISTANT CHIEF YOUNG: Good

         24  afternoon, Mr. Chairman and members of the Council.

         25  On behalf of Police Commissioner Raymond Kelly and
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          2  Chief of Department Joseph Esposito, I would like to

          3  thank you for this opportunity to speak with you

          4  about Intro. No. 142, prohibiting racial or ethnic

          5  profiling.

          6                 I am Assistant Chief Ed Young, the

          7  Executive Officer of the Office of Chief of the

          8  Department. Joining me is Assistant Deputy

          9  Commissioner Deborah Zoland, of the Office of the

         10  Deputy Commissioner, Legal Matters; and Deputy Chief

         11  John Gerrish, the Commanding Officer of the Office

         12  of Management Analysis and Planning.

         13                 The bill you are considering today

         14  reflects the serious concerns which we all share to

         15  ensure that racial profiling has no place in the

         16  precinct practices of law enforcement agencies.

         17                 However, because the bill was

         18  originally introduced early in the present

         19  administration, prior to the promulgation of Police

         20  Department Operations Order No. 11 of 2002, it is

         21  not reflective of Police Department policies and

         22  procedures.

         23                 In addition, some of the elements of

         24  the bill duplicate laws and processes already in

         25  place, which would create unnecessary confusion and
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          2  waste resources, were they to be enacted.

          3                 We would like to describe for you the

          4  significant procedures and initiatives the New York

          5  City Police Department has instituted in order to

          6  ensure that our police officers enforce the law in a

          7  just and nondiscriminatory manner.

          8                 The New York City Police Department

          9  has consistently implemented strong measures

         10  ensuring that members of all ranks know their

         11  responsibilities in handling encounters with the

         12  public. By issuing a written policy in March of

         13  2002, explicitly banning racial profiling,

         14  Commissioner Kelly made absolutely clear that the

         15  illegal stops will not be tolerated and that the

         16  actions of police officers must be consistent with

         17  federal, state and local laws.

         18                 The many steps that the NYPD has

         19  taken to prevent unlawful practices and improve our

         20  relationship with the communities we serve fall into

         21  seven general areas: The policy statement, a revised

         22  Stop, Question and Frisk form, training at all

         23  levels, community outreach, CompStat review, Quality

         24  Assurance Division Review, and Discipline.

         25                 The NYPD has for many years
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          2  maintained policies and conducted training in how to

          3  conduct a lawful stop, question and frisk.

          4                 To emphasize the Department's policy

          5  against racial profiling, in March of 2002,

          6  Commissioner Kelly published an official policy

          7  regarding racial profiling, Operations Order No. 11.

          8                 The order defines racial profiling as

          9  the "use of race, color, ethnicity or national

         10  origin as the determinative factor for initiating

         11  police action." The order goes on to state that "the

         12  use of the characteristics such as religion, age,

         13  gender, gender identity, or sexual orientation" is

         14  prohibited as a determinative factor for taking

         15  police action. Officers are accountable to

         16  articulate the factors that led to their stop of a

         17  person. The order specifically includes performance

         18  in this area as a subject of CompStat review and

         19  requires that it be part of a precinct's

         20  self-inspection program as monitored by the

         21  Department's Quality Assurance Division.

         22                 Since 1964, New York City police

         23  officers conducting reasonable suspicion stops have

         24  been required by Department guidelines to complete a

         25  form documenting the stop. The form is not legally
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          2  required but it was developed primarily as a tool

          3  for investigators which assists in the subsequent

          4  location and apprehension of criminal suspects, and

          5  subsequently became a way to document the encounter.

          6                 The form was amended in 1973, and

          7  remained a carbon snap-off form for almost thirty

          8  years.

          9                 Although the stop and frisk form was

         10  never intended to become a mechanism for evaluating

         11  the lawfulness of stops performed by police

         12  officers, our experience of the last few years and

         13  the intense public interest in the manner in which

         14  these stops are conducted led the Department to

         15  develop a new form with computerization in mind.

         16                 In January 2001, after a successful

         17  pilot project, the Police Department began using a

         18  revised form for officers to document their stops.

         19                 The form was revised again in

         20  November of 2002 to make it as effective and

         21  user-friendly as possible.

         22                 This new form was designed to be

         23  carried in an officer's memo book. The captions are

         24  clear in directing officers' attention to the lawful

         25  reasons to the stop, question or frisk a person.
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          2                 The form contains check-off boxes to

          3  identify the race and ethnicity of the people

          4  stopped, as well as check-off boxes to show the

          5  factors that led to a stop.

          6                 To ensure that officers are aware of

          7  the legal basis for a stop and that they would have

          8  an immediate legal reference when conducting a stop

          9  and preparing the new form, the Department prepared

         10  and distributed a memo book insert called "Street

         11  Encounters - Legal Issues." This insert, which must

         12  be carried by all officers assigned to patrol duties

         13  below the rank of captain, provides legal guidance

         14  on interactions between the police and the public.

         15                 For policy to be most effective, it

         16  must be expressed to all members of the Department

         17  in all ranks. To that end, training plays an

         18  essential role. The Police Department has always

         19  trained its officers in how to enforce the law

         20  within the boundaries of the Constitution.

         21                 However, training has been updated to

         22  ensure that officers understand the Department's

         23  policy against racial profiling as currently stated

         24  in Operation's Order No. 11.

         25                 In early 2002, Commissioner Kelly
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          2  invited Dr. James Fyfe to join the Police Department

          3  as Deputy Commissioner for Training. Dr. Fyfe is a

          4  nationally acclaimed expert on police matters who

          5  has testified for and against Police Departments in

          6  litigation throughout the United States. And in fact

          7  was a consultant to the Justice Department's Civil

          8  Rights Division on the first several investigations

          9  of Police Departments it brought under authority of

         10  the federal law authorizing "patterns and practices"

         11  investigations. The Deputy Commissioner for Training

         12  reports directly to the Police Commissioner and

         13  oversees all the Department training, rather than

         14  just that offered in the Police Academy.

         15                 Under Dr. Fyfe's leadership, the

         16  entire recruit curriculum was rewritten and updated,

         17  integrating materials from four separate disciplines

         18  (Law; Police Science; Behavioral Science; and

         19  Physical Training and Tactics) into unified subject

         20  areas, emphasizing role play and other practical

         21  exercises designed to expose recruits to real-life

         22  situations, giving them the tools to understand and

         23  apply sound legal principles and effective tactics.

         24  Once recruits graduate from the Police Academy,

         25  in-service training is conducted in several forms:
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          2                 Precinct/Unit Level Training - Police

          3  officers assigned to precincts, Housing Police

          4  Service Areas, Transit Districts, and other

          5  enforcement units in general have the most direct

          6  contact with the public.

          7                 The Department has addressed the

          8  issue of racial profiling at officers' commands

          9  through Precinct/Unit Level Training, especially in

         10  the context of issuance of the new stop, question

         11  and frisk form. This training is usually conducted

         12  by a training sergeant and takes place before or

         13  after the officers' shifts of duty.

         14                 Promotion and Specialized Training -

         15  The Legal Bureau conducts training that includes

         16  street encounters and racial profiling during

         17  promotion courses which are conducted when members

         18  of the service are promoted to sergeant, lieutenant

         19  or captain. The Legal Bureau also provides this

         20  training to specialized units.

         21                 LEAD (Leaders Empowered to Act

         22  Decisively) - Sergeants and Lieutenants assigned to

         23  Patrol Boroughs and Housing and Transit Bureaus must

         24  attend a full day training session called LEAD once

         25  per year. LEAD training is a scenario based
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          2  simulation program that includes peer review.

          3                 Legal Bureau Bulletins - Issued by

          4  the Department's Legal Bureau, bulletins are used to

          5  keep members of the service apprised of significant

          6  developments in the law.

          7                 Community outreach takes both formal

          8  and informal paths, from the dozens of visits and

          9  meetings in which Commissioner Kelly personally

         10  participates, to the regular contact that precinct

         11  commanders have with their neighborhood residents

         12  and businesses, to casual conversations with the

         13  police officers on patrol.

         14                 In fact, precinct commanders are

         15  required to attend or send representatives to

         16  community meetings as part of their job description.

         17  Commanders are also required to keep community

         18  leaders and organizations informed of local

         19  conditions, activities, and events that are of

         20  concern to the community.

         21                 In addition, every precinct and

         22  police service area has at least one community

         23  affairs officer, who works under the direct

         24  supervision of the commanding officer.

         25                 These officers are responsible for
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          2  maintaining positive police/community relations with

          3  the people who live and work in their commands.

          4                 They walk the streets, attend

          5  community meetings, and visit schools, places of

          6  worship and businesses. They provide an "early

          7  warning system" for problems arising in the command,

          8  and develop close relationships with community

          9  leaders which facilitate immediate contact and

         10  correction.

         11                 The Office of the Deputy

         12  Commissioner, Community Affairs operates a network

         13  of community outreach initiatives and programs that

         14  improve quality of life and police-community

         15  relations, as well as involve the public in crime

         16  reduction.

         17                 One of the goals of the outreach is

         18  to promote understanding between the members of the

         19  community and police. This would decrease a

         20  perception of misconduct when the police are acting

         21  lawfully, as well as a knowledge of when to report

         22  misconduct.

         23                 Some of the specific initiatives

         24  administered by the Office of the Deputy

         25  Commissioner, Community Affairs, are: Precinct
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          2  Community Councils; Clergy Liaisons; Civilian

          3  Participation Programs (for example, the Civilian

          4  Observation Ride Alongs, and the Civilian

          5  Observation Patrols); New Immigrant Outreach;

          6  Citizens' Police Academy; and several programs

          7  specifically focused on young people (for example,

          8  the Youth Police Academy and Law Enforcement

          9  Explorers.) The Office also distributes a pamphlet,

         10  "Understanding Your Rights," explaining what the

         11  public should expect of police officers in common

         12  enforcement situations, and providing information

         13  about how to file complaints.

         14                 An additional step the Department

         15  took to advise community members of the provisions

         16  of Operations Order No. 11 was taken in January of

         17  2003. The Department provided sufficient copies of

         18  the order to Community Affairs Officers in each

         19  precinct and police service area and directed them

         20  to distribute the order at three successive Precinct

         21  Community Council meetings, so that community

         22  members could be directly informed of the priority

         23  which the Department places on ensuring compliance

         24  with the law while conducting its crime-fighting

         25  activities.
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          2                 CompStat is a highly effective

          3  management tool for focusing attention and resources

          4  on emerging conditions, and for fostering

          5  communication between different commands to solve

          6  problems.

          7                 This is why Operations Order No. 11

          8  prohibiting racial profiling explicitly incorporates

          9  the CompStat review, since there is no better

         10  mechanism in the Department for concentrating

         11  commanders' attention on an initiative or

         12  performance indicator.

         13                 However, well before the issuance of

         14  Operations Order No. 11, the Chief of Department's

         15  CompStat Unit implemented a comprehensive plan to

         16  assess the performance of police officers in their

         17  contacts with the public.

         18                 Before every CompStat session, the

         19  Chief of Department's office retrieves and examines

         20  a sampling of arrest reports, stop and frisk forms,

         21  and moving violation summonses, in order to evaluate

         22  whether the action taken was apparently lawful and

         23  in locations consistent with precinct crime

         24  conditions, and to discern any patterns which may

         25  lead to further inquiry or required training.
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          2                 CompStat review ensures that the

          3  prevention of racial profiling is a high priority

          4  for police commanders and therefore for their

          5  staffs.

          6                 The Quality Assurance Division is a

          7  command, reporting directly to the Deputy

          8  Commissioner of Strategic Initiatives, which audits

          9  other units in the Police Department to ensure

         10  compliance with Department policy.

         11                 The Quality Assurance Division has

         12  been specifically charged by Commissioner Kelly to

         13  include compliance with Operation's Order No. 11 as

         14  part of all of their command inspections.

         15                 The Quality Assurance Division

         16  Analysis incorporates examination of Department

         17  reports, including stop and frisk forms, as well as

         18  follow-up as necessary, to ensure that Department

         19  commands are completing stop, question and frisk

         20  forms in accordance with Department regulations.

         21                 Notwithstanding the general level of

         22  excellence in performance by NYPD officers, there

         23  are occasions when police officers may take unlawful

         24  or inappropriate police action. The Police

         25  Department's large and thorough disciplinary process
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          2  (for example, the Internal Affairs Bureau, the

          3  Inspections Units, the Department Advocate, and the

          4  Deputy Commissioner of Trials) addresses all

          5  allegations of unlawful police action, including

          6  street encounters and those that allege racial

          7  profiling.

          8                 If misconduct is substantiated, the

          9  member of the Department will be disciplined. In

         10  addition, allegations of racial profiling may be

         11  investigated under the "Abuse of Authority" category

         12  by the Civilian Complaint Review Board, whose

         13  recommendations are forwarded to the Police

         14  Commissioner for disciplinary action once

         15  substantiated by the Board.

         16                 As you can see, the Department's

         17  efforts incorporate into the very structure of the

         18  Department a commitment to educating police officers

         19  to the adverse consequences of racial profiling and

         20  ensuring that its use is prevented.

         21                 Not only is racial profiling damaging

         22  to the City's fabric, it is also bad policing

         23  tactics. Police resources must not be wasted on

         24  pursuing the wrong individuals based on irrelevant

         25  factors. They must be focused on locating and
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          2  apprehending actual criminals, based on the

          3  circumstances of criminal incidents and not on

          4  preconceived ideas or biases.

          5                 It was in this spirit that the City

          6  recently reached a settlement agreement in a class

          7  action lawsuit brought in federal court known as the

          8  "Daniels" case, which alleged that the Department

          9  unlawfully implemented a policy of unconstitutional

         10  stops and frisks of New York City residents.

         11                 The Daniels' settlement, which was

         12  approved by the court last month, sets forth a

         13  series of actions and programs which the Department

         14  is required to maintain or implement, such as:

         15                 - Establish a written policy

         16  regarding racial profiling that complies with the

         17  United States and New York State Constitutions.

         18                 - Utilize the Quality Assurance

         19  Division to audit documentation of stop, question

         20  and frisk activities in accordance with NYPD

         21  regulations.

         22                 - Provide annual in-service training

         23  regarding the Racial Profiling Policy.

         24                 - Train and maintain training records

         25  on stop, question and frisk activity, the law of
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          2  search and seizure, cultural diversity, integrity

          3  and ethics, and effective supervisory and leadership

          4  techniques.

          5                 The Deputy Commissioner of Training

          6  to review curriculum on racial profiling policy,

          7  stop, question and frisk activity, and related

          8  topics, and revise curriculum as necessary.

          9                 - Require all officers to document

         10  stop, question and frisk activity in stop, question

         11  and frisk worksheets, as well as additional

         12  documents, including but not limited to memo books,

         13  logs and monthly activity reports.

         14                 - Make copies of Operations Order No.

         15  11 available to attendees of the NYPD community

         16  meetings.

         17                 - Plaintiffs and the NYPD together

         18  will conduct Joint Community Forums to inform and

         19  educate communities about the NYPD racial profiling

         20  policy, and the rights of citizens who are stopped,

         21  questioned and frisked by the police.

         22                 The forums will be held in a spirit

         23  of unity and cooperation between the NYPD, the class

         24  representatives, and the community to enhance the

         25  understanding of effective police enforcement while
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          2  safeguarding citizens' rights.

          3                 - Develop High School Workshop

          4  Programs, subject to the approval of and

          5  coordination with the Department of Education, to

          6  educate high school students at school workshops

          7  about the circumstances under which the NYPD can

          8  engage in stop, question and frisk activity, and the

          9  rights of citizens involved in such encounters.

         10                 - revise the current pamphlet

         11  entitled "Understanding Your Rights," to include

         12  appropriate information regarding stop, question and

         13  frisk encounters between police and citizens.

         14                 - Design and create a palm card

         15  providing contact information and procedures for

         16  citizens who have concerns arising from a stop,

         17  question and frisk encounter with the police.

         18                 It is important to note that many of

         19  the terms of the settlement are already in place and

         20  were in fact implemented well before it was known

         21  that a settlement could be reached.

         22                 They reflect the importance of this

         23  issue to the Department and represent the

         24  common-sense measures taken to permanently

         25  incorporate the terms and the spirit of Operations
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          2  Order No. 11 into the policies and practices of the

          3  Department.

          4                 Turning now to the bill before you,

          5  we have several specific comments and one general

          6  comment.

          7                 First, as a threshold question, the

          8  bill applies to the Police Department or other law

          9  enforcement agency, but does not provide a

         10  definition of law enforcement agency, other than as

         11  an agency performing a law enforcement function. It

         12  is unclear which agencies would be included in the

         13  definition, since many City agencies employ police

         14  officers or peace officers, but would not usually be

         15  considered law enforcement agencies, such as the

         16  Department of Sanitation, and the Health and

         17  Hospitals Corporation.

         18                 Second, a crucial element of the bill

         19  is the definition of racial or ethnic profiling,

         20  referring to police action taken that relies on the

         21  race, ethnicity, or national origin, rather than the

         22  behavior of an individual or information that lead

         23  the police to a particular individual or has been

         24  identified as being or having been engaged in

         25  criminal activity.
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          2                 It is important to acknowledge that

          3  the race or ethnicity of a described suspect is a

          4  legitimate factor in developing reasonable

          5  suspicion; however, this definition seems to

          6  establish a requirement that race, ethnicity or

          7  national origin not be used, unless the person

          8  stopped has already been identified as the criminal

          9  suspect, rather than allowing race, ethnicity or

         10  national origin to be considered as part of the

         11  description of the suspect.

         12                 A more appropriate definition may be

         13  the one utilized in Operations Order No. 11 in which

         14  the use of race, color, ethnicity or national

         15  original as a determinative factor for initiating

         16  police action is prohibited as racial profiling.

         17                 Third, the bill sets forth specific

         18  requirements for the Department and other law

         19  enforcement agencies to promulgate a policy

         20  prohibiting racial or ethnic profiling, outlines

         21  specific training requirements, and includes a

         22  notification requirement to the CCRB.

         23                 It is respectfully submitted that

         24  these matters fall outside the purview of the

         25  Council, and are more properly a matter for agency
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          2  discretion and mayoral direction.

          3                 Fourth, the bill sets forth an

          4  extensive reporting requirement which would hamper

          5  police operations in the interest of providing

          6  several categories of data with no context or

          7  utility.

          8                 Police officers are already required

          9  to prepare a stop and frisk report when they conduct

         10  a stop, question and frisk and/or search based upon

         11  reasonable suspicion.

         12                 The stop and frisk form documents the

         13  encounter in a manner which is useful to the

         14  Department. Much of the relevant information sought

         15  in the bill, is captured in the already existing

         16  form: the pedigree information of the person

         17  stopped; the factors that led to the stop, frisk,

         18  and/or search; the results of the search; whether an

         19  arrest was made, and the offense charged; the time,

         20  location and approximate duration of the stop.

         21                 With respect to the report of whether

         22  immigration status was questioned or further inquiry

         23  was made to federal authorities, note that the bill

         24  was drafted before the issuance of the Mayor's

         25  Executive Orders, Nos. 34 and 41, and Police
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          2  Department Interim Order No. 5 of 2004.

          3                 These orders prohibit police officers

          4  from inquiring about a person's immigration status

          5  unless investigating illegal activity other than

          6  mere status as an undocumented alien.

          7                 However, the orders provide that

          8  police officers will continue to cooperate with

          9  federal authorities when investigating and

         10  apprehending aliens suspected of criminal activity.

         11                 The bill builds in inaccuracy in

         12  reporting by preventing the police officer from

         13  asking the person stopped for their pedigree

         14  information, especially if the officer is in doubt.

         15                 It also incorporates a category for

         16  "consent searchers, which is at best confusing,

         17  since a street encounter based on reasonable

         18  suspicion does not require the consent of the person

         19  searched.

         20                 Most important, changing and

         21  expanding the use of such a form to include perhaps

         22  millions of traffic stops per year, whether or not a

         23  summons results, depletes scarce police resources

         24  which should instead be devoted to enforcement of

         25  the traffic laws and other necessary policing
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          2  activities.

          3                 There were approximately 910,000

          4  moving violations served in 2003; we estimate that

          5  there were at least that many more which did not

          6  result in a summons.

          7                 Therefore, the bill would have police

          8  officers spend additional valuable time to create a

          9  record, and would also result in placing a record in

         10  police files relating to every motorist stopped,

         11  even in cases where the motorist did not receive a

         12  summons.

         13                 The bill would theoretically apply to

         14  any motorist stopped for example at a DWI

         15  checkpoint, a bridge or tunnel safety checkpoint for

         16  terrorist activity, or for an Amber Alert, resulting

         17  in traffic backups, decreased productivity, and the

         18  distraction of police officers from their primary

         19  duties. This aspect of the bill represents an

         20  unnecessary burden on police officers and an

         21  additional intrusion on, and greater delay of, the

         22  motorist who was stopped.

         23                 Fifth, Section 14-304 of the bill

         24  sets forth an unreasonable reporting requirement

         25  which interferes with the discretion of agencies to
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          2  determine what information is useful to their

          3  operations and with whom it should be shared.

          4                 For instance, we already work closely

          5  with the Civilian Complaint Review Board, and

          6  provide information that they request in order to

          7  carry out their mission. It would be an

          8  inappropriate intrusion on the discretion of the

          9  Mayor and Police Commissioner for the Council to

         10  direct the Police Department to report information

         11  to another agency.

         12                 With respect to reporting of the

         13  information to the Council itself, the quarterly

         14  report currently produced by the Police Department

         15  for the Council, as required by Administrative Code

         16  14-150 provides a significant amount of information

         17  to the Council, and was enacted after spirited

         18  negotiations between the parties, as sufficient for

         19  purposes of oversight of the Department's stop and

         20  frisk practices.

         21                 Sixth, Section 14-305 requires the

         22  development of a new form to report complaints by

         23  individuals who believe they have been subjected to

         24  racial or ethnic profiling. Such complaints are

         25  already made to the CCRB on its present form, and
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          2  categorized as abuse of authority, with

          3  subcategories of "frisk and/or search," "vehicle

          4  searched," "question and/or stopped," and "vehicle

          5  stopped."

          6                 Therefore, the creation of a new form

          7  is unnecessary and duplicative.

          8                 It should also be noted that there

          9  are many ways in which the City has made it easier

         10  for individuals to file complaints: The CCRB

         11  complaints may be made by phone, in person or by

         12  mail, to any police precinct, as well as to the

         13  office of the CCRB; CCRB has developed an on-line

         14  complaint form for filing a complaint through its

         15  website; and complaints may be made through calling

         16  3-1-1.

         17                 Any complaint made to the Police

         18  Department falling within the CCRB's jurisdiction is

         19  forwarded to the CCRB, in conformance with

         20  longstanding Department policy to refer the

         21  complaint, not the complainant.

         22                 Seventh, Section 14-307 requires the

         23  Police Commissioner to impose discipline and sets

         24  forth a set of penalties. This section directly

         25  conflicts with Administrative Code Section 14-115,
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          2  which sets forth the penalties which the Police

          3  Commissioner may impose after finding that

          4  misconduct has been substantiated.

          5                 In addition, it is unclear whether

          6  and under what terms a police officer might be

          7  required to participate in "community service,"

          8  since theoretically he or she would have to be

          9  ordered to participate and might therefore be

         10  considered on duty, and required to be paid.

         11                 Finally, and in general, one must

         12  consider whether it is necessary to enact this bill

         13  in order to achieve the impartial enforcement of law

         14  and the protection of Constitutional rights.

         15                 We suggest that the commitment of the

         16  New York City Police Department to institutional

         17  improvement in its practices, including the

         18  promulgation of Operations Order No. 11, is the

         19  mechanism by which racial or ethnic profiling is

         20  prevented and addressed, and that many elements of

         21  the bill would in fact distract the Police

         22  Department from that mission rather than enhance it.

         23                 Thank you for allowing us the

         24  opportunity to speak with you today, and we will be

         25  pleased to answer any questions you may have.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

          3  Deputy Chief Young.

          4                 Let me first commend the Mayor, the

          5  Police Commissioner, and everyone involved,

          6  regarding the changes you've already made in this

          7  area.

          8                 I believe you've done an excellent

          9  job in increasing the Police Department's awareness

         10  in this situation, respecting the rights of all of

         11  our citizens, while at the same time decreasing

         12  crime levels and protecting us from terrorists.

         13                 But, obviously, we're here for a

         14  purpose, so let me begin. As you probably are aware,

         15  I've been dealing with Ray Kelly on this issue prior

         16  to today, and he did write a letter, we sent him

         17  this bill and he wrote a letter in which he said

         18  basically what you said, that the most important

         19  fact to be considered in evaluating the need for

         20  this legislation is whether it's necessary, we

         21  suggest that the commitment of the Department's

         22  institutional improvement in its practices,

         23  including the promulgation of Operations Order 11

         24  are the mechanism by which racial and ethnic

         25  profiling is prevented and addressed, and that many

                                                            35

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  elements of this bill would in fact distract the

          3  Police Department. Accordingly, we are unable to

          4  support the bill in its present form.

          5                 And then I read from your testimony

          6  on page one, where you said that parts of our bill

          7  are not reflective of the Police Department

          8  policies, and in addition other parts are

          9  duplicative, which seems to make us lose either way.

         10                 So, let me ask you then, and get

         11  right down to the point why we're here today, we're

         12  just trying to basically codify most of what you do

         13  already.

         14                 If our bill did nothing else but

         15  codify what you do now, would your Department

         16  support it?

         17                 ASSISTANT CHIEF YOUNG: Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay, we're done

         19  today. Thanks. No. No.

         20                 But that is good to know, and I must

         21  say it's been a pleasure to work with your

         22  Department on this bill so far.

         23                 Thank you for your suggestions,

         24  making changes, some of which I agree with, such as

         25  the over-abundance of paperwork which keeps the

                                                            36

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  police officers off the streets and not making

          3  arrests, the fact that police officers are basically

          4  stopped from asking pedigree and filling out reports

          5  for such things as amber alerts, I agree with those

          6  changes. Others are confusing, however.

          7                 Let's talk about the basic definition

          8  of racial profiling. You've read yours on a few

          9  occasions, and you've read ours on page seven, now

         10  ours comes straight from the Department of Justice,

         11  and you mention that our definition seems to

         12  establish a requirement that race, ethnicity or

         13  national origin not be used unless the person

         14  stopped has already been identified as the criminal

         15  suspect, rather than allowing race, ethnicity or

         16  national origin to be considered as part of the

         17  description of the suspect. I'm not sure what that

         18  means, can you flesh that out for us a little bit?

         19                 ASSISTANT CHIEF YOUNG: Well, I guess

         20  getting down to the street it would mean that an

         21  officer who would stop an individual simply because

         22  he happens to fit some kind of a particular bias in

         23  the officer's mind, being perhaps a male Hispanic, a

         24  male black, male Arab, and with no other factor to

         25  justify such a stop would be wrong.
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          2                 However, if you had a description of

          3  a male black, a male Hispanic, and coupled with

          4  other determinative factors, that would justify a

          5  stop, that would be another factor that the officer

          6  would take into consideration in making a justified

          7  stop.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I was about to

          9  say we all agree on that, but most of us agree that

         10  race is sometimes a valid aspect of a stop,

         11  especially when using a description that you're

         12  working with, but that's why our Department of

         13  Justice definition does specifically provide for

         14  that possibility. I'm not sure why you believe that

         15  it doesn't.

         16                 MS. PETITO: Good afternoon, Mr.

         17  Chairman. I'm Susan Petito, from the Office of

         18  Deputy Commissioner of Legal Matters.

         19                 And I think it's kind of a drafting

         20  problem actually, because the way the Department of

         21  Justice definition reads, you have an either/or

         22  proposition set up. You can't use any kind of racial

         23  description or ethnic description and the only

         24  things you can use are the behavior of the

         25  individual or information that led the police to a
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          2  particular individual who has been identified as

          3  being or having been engaged in criminal activity.

          4                 In other words, the police officer

          5  would have to know that that was the person, as

          6  opposed to maybe something like the behavior of the

          7  individual information that led the police to a

          8  particular individual who is reasonably suspected of

          9  having been engaged in criminal activity.

         10                 In other words, the phrase that's

         11  very problematic is that led the police to a

         12  particular individual who has been identified as,

         13  because that doesn't carry within it the concept of

         14  reasonable suspicion.

         15                 There's a certainty implied by that

         16  section that isn't realistic.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay, I'm not

         18  sure whether I agree, but I understand I think where

         19  you're coming from. So, we'll sit down with you and

         20  work that out.

         21                 ASSISTANT CHIEF YOUNG: I think we can

         22  work out language.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay, I have

         24  many more questions, but I'd like to defer now to

         25  the sponsor of this bill, Council Member Philip
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          2  Reed.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: That's all

          4  right, Peter. Thank you.

          5                 I'm interested in hearing from my

          6  other colleagues, as well, so I'll make some of my

          7  questions, try to make them brief. My sense that

          8  there is more common ground here than there isn't,

          9  right? So, we're trying to find a way to pull this

         10  together.

         11                 I think as I listen to your

         12  testimony, particularly the substantive part as it

         13  relates to this bill, or actually, even the

         14  beginning part of it, in fact it's very

         15  comprehensive, it's almost five pages, single

         16  spaced, of all of what the Police Department is

         17  doing to deal with the issue of racial profiling.

         18  Seven different levels you're involved, and I think

         19  that is terrific, but it took us a long time as a

         20  City to get there. Some of this is as recent as

         21  2004. So, what we were saying I think in the

         22  beginning is we were applauding this Commissioner

         23  specifically, and this Administration in general for

         24  the new approach that they're taking, but I'm still

         25  hearing in your official testimony the word

                                                            40

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  "perceived" and I'm still hearing the word

          3  "discretion." And what this bill hopes to do is to

          4  get rid of those two words.

          5                 Because it's not a perception in many

          6  communities in New York City that this problem has

          7  existed, it's a reality.

          8                 We still hear from the CCRB that the

          9  complaint levels are higher than ever before, the

         10  majority of those complaints are around the issue of

         11  police misconduct and how they feel, the people do,

         12  that they are being profiled by the police. And a

         13  significant number of those complaints, over 50

         14  percent, are being substantiated.

         15                 So, while it takes some time for all

         16  of these good things to sort of have the effect,

         17  with all due respect to what you've said about the

         18  community councils and the events, I spent Friday

         19  night with the Chief of Manhattan North and the two

         20  precinct commanders from the 23 and the 25, a

         21  wonderful community event. I think every one of my

         22  colleagues does a great deal of that, but the

         23  majority of the people in the City of New York don't

         24  have the benefit of those encounters. And certainly

         25  in my mind I know that as a citizen of New York, if
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          2  this bill should pass, in fact I should say when it

          3  passes, there will be a sense in their mind of ease

          4  that it is against the law for the police or other

          5  enforcement agencies to racial profile. They won't

          6  have to wait to see if they get a pamphlet. They

          7  won't wait to see if a community liaison officer

          8  stops and discusses this with them.

          9                 So, that's the reason why we are

         10  trying to do this. I think as the Chair said, there

         11  are some linguistic issues here and in definitions

         12  that we can tease out.

         13                 One specific concern I have at the

         14  very beginning of your testimony and others, we talk

         15  about identifying people. I think it's important we

         16  talked about perceived, because often times people

         17  aren't what is put on the form, black, Latino, even

         18  white. So, I think we need to be careful and say

         19  that that is what a perceived, that's the perception

         20  that the officer had, which is legitimate, of

         21  course, but that in fact very well may not be what

         22  that person is or furthermore how that person

         23  identifies or defines themselves.

         24                 So, again, I'm hearing you say that

         25  there's more common ground, and that we could come
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          2  to something here. Because I know that Ron Daniels,

          3  who is the person whose name is in that lawsuit,

          4  that gave us all this text, is going to be delighted

          5  when we pass this bill. Just call Daniels, he wants

          6  to be on this bill. I would think that we could find

          7  a way to make this happen and give the citizens of

          8  New York a feeling that we are working together.

          9                 In the years that come after the

         10  Bloomberg Administration, I talked to Ray Kelly the

         11  other day, Ray Kelly said to me, when Bloomberg is

         12  finished, I'm finished. Does that mean all of this

         13  disappears? We don't want that to happen. And when

         14  you talk about our authority, because you did do it,

         15  with all due respect, we don't feel that there is

         16  some ground of public activity, sanctioned activity

         17  of the government, that we, the Legislature, don't

         18  have authority to discuss and in fact to make

         19  legislation about. So, that would be another -- you

         20  know, you respectfully offered that up, but we

         21  respectfully reject whether or not we have the

         22  authority to promulgate these kind of rules.

         23                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

         25  Council member.
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          2                 A quick question. The penalties that

          3  are metered out right now by the Police Department

          4  for violation of your rules, what do they range

          5  from, how often are they metered out?

          6                 ASSISTANT CHIEF YOUNG: The Counsel

          7  can respond to that question.

          8                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZOLAND:

          9  I can tell you what they are. I don't really

         10  understand what you mean by how often are the

         11  metered out.

         12                 Basically Section 14-115 of the

         13  Administrative Code allows the Police Commissioner

         14  to take certain actions if the person is convicted

         15  after due process hearing, which the penalties range

         16  from suspension or vacation days of up to 30 days,

         17  dismissal probation for up to one year. They are

         18  very limited actually, they don't allow for

         19  community service and things like that. I'm not sure

         20  I understand the second part of your question.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So you said it

         22  ranges from suspension to termination for a year; is

         23  that what you said?

         24                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZOLAND:

         25  No, termination is the worst penalty that they can
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          2  give. We can take for each specific charge up to 30

          3  days vacation or suspension, and we can put a person

          4  on up to one year of dismissal probation.

          5                 Those are just the panoply of

          6  penalties allowed for in the Administrative Code.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.

          8                 The second part of the question, and

          9  I'm not sure you would be the person to answer it

         10  is, how often are police officers disciplined for

         11  violation of these specific rules?

         12                 ASSISTANT CHIEF YOUNG: As I looked at

         13  -- had staff prepare for me, I asked them that

         14  specific question, you know, where are we with

         15  discipline, over recently because I had them look

         16  this up over the weekend and in the last three

         17  months there were maybe seven or eight findings that

         18  resulted from the Deputy Commissioner trials, and

         19  within those cases the finding was instruction for

         20  the officers, command discipline where there was

         21  penalties of several days, command discipline where

         22  there was a warning and admonished -- a schedule B

         23  command discipline, which would require a permanent

         24  record for the officer and a guilty at the trial

         25  where the officer received five days. Now, those are
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          2  just pulling out, and I didn't do an entire

          3  analysis, but those would be some examples in recent

          4  times of the types of penalties that were given.

          5                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZOLAND:

          6  I would also like to add that that would not reflect

          7  any discipline that was given out that did not get a

          8  trial. We have an informal disciplinary system and a

          9  formal disciplinary system. The formal is where the

         10  person either pleas not guilty and they go through a

         11  full trial. Many other discipline matters that are

         12  disposed of through negotiation or command

         13  discipline and that would not be reflected in Chief

         14  Young's statistics.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I'm concerned

         16  about this because our bill at the moment basically

         17  leaves the discretion to you to do exactly what

         18  you're doing right now.

         19                 I'm going to defer over to Council

         20  Member Monserrate.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Thank you,

         22  Mr. Chair.

         23                 Good afternoon to the members of the

         24  panel. Mr. Chair, I thank you for bringing this to a

         25  hearing and perhaps we probably have to have another
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          2  hearing or two on this very extensive issue.

          3                 I just wanted to make note that

          4  blanket statements that racial profiling does not

          5  exist I don't concur with.

          6                 I think that prior to this

          7  Administration there was long an established pain

          8  throughout communities of color, reports issued by

          9  the Attorney General, by CCRB, by a lot of advocacy

         10  organizations, and I believe that there in fact was

         11  a problem, perhaps that problem has been

         12  substantially mitigated against, but I would not

         13  ever concur with the statement that gives a blanket

         14  defense of an agency that was and has problems

         15  actually heightened by the Amadou Diallo case. But

         16  specifically regarding the testimony that I've heard

         17  today, and I had several questions, but obviously

         18  the facts that seven or eight findings were found in

         19  the last three months, specifically can you testify

         20  to those seven or eight findings as to what the

         21  charges were? Were officers actually charged with

         22  engaging in racial profiling?

         23                 ASSISTANT CHIEF YOUNG: No. The

         24  specifics of it had to do with stop, question and

         25  frisk issues.
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          2                 I do not have the actual case data.

          3  The question I had posed was, what were some final

          4  dispositions on cases that went to the trial

          5  commissioner that were related to inappropriate

          6  stop, question and frisk.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Okay. So,

          8  Ms. Zoland, right? I believe you're the legal

          9  counsel there. I know that you have tremendous

         10  expertise with regards to what happens in the trial

         11  room and the trial commissioners and so forth, so I

         12  would imagine that you would be the person that you

         13  would be able to tell this body has anyone ever been

         14  disciplined specifically for engaging in racial

         15  profiling on an administrative level?

         16                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZOLAND:

         17  Although I do appreciate the compliment, I don't

         18  have that information at hand, but we would be able

         19  to get back to the Council with that information.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:

         21  Independently you do not have any knowledge at this

         22  point as to someone being administratively charged

         23  within the Department, let's say any time, from 1996

         24  to the present?

         25                 I would assume, and this is perhaps
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          2  an incorrect assumption, but I would assume that

          3  given the tremendous amount of attention that this

          4  issue has had, I am assuming that because of the

          5  Daniels' Class Action lawsuit, because of the State

          6  Attorney General's investigation, DOJ's

          7  investigation, that perhaps we would know of one or

          8  two cases where officers were in fact charged with

          9  racial profiling in the administrative trial room?

         10                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZOLAND:

         11  I don't disagree that someone in the Department

         12  probably does know, but I am not that person, I am

         13  not so directly involved with the disciplinary

         14  system, so that we can get back to you with that

         15  information.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Okay. I

         17  have a few more questions.

         18                 Mr. Chair, I just want to make a note

         19  for the record, that that information is extremely

         20  important to clarify in fact what the Department's

         21  attention has been to this issue, and in fact have

         22  officers been disciplined and charged, and if so,

         23  what was the extent of that.

         24                 I would assume that an officer found

         25  guilty of engaging in this practice would not be
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          2  issued a command discipline, which is a relatively

          3  low-level discipline but in fact would be hit

          4  harshly because he was or she was engaging in civil

          5  rights violations. And I think that this will be one

          6  of the most clearest ways of seeing both the

          7  Department's dedication and their insurance to this

          8  body that they are in fact going to root out this

          9  social problem that we have had.

         10                 I wanted to bring our attention back

         11  to the Operations Order No. 11 and would you clarify

         12  to me if this Operations Order will ever become a

         13  permanent part of the New York City Police

         14  Department's Patrol Guide?

         15                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZOLAND:

         16  I believe that it will be.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: But that

         18  as of yet has not been determined?

         19                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZOLAND:

         20  I believe that it has, and I had that conversation

         21  with the people that put the orders in and I think

         22  it's their intention, I don't know when.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: For the

         24  benefit of my colleagues, the difference between an

         25  Operations Orders and the Patrol Guide -- perhaps
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          2  why don't you explain it. That would be a better

          3  way.

          4                 Can you explain the difference

          5  between the both?

          6                 ASSISTANT CHIEF YOUNG: I'll explain

          7  that.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Okay.

          9                 ASSISTANT CHIEF YOUNG: The Operations

         10  Orders are Chief of Department orders that generate

         11  policy. A Patrol Guide is revised normally through

         12  Patrol Guide revisions and interim orders, so we

         13  would have to see how to work this into an interim

         14  order to revise the Patrol Guide.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: And then

         16  as part of the Patrol Guide, it becomes something

         17  that is issued to all the recruits, to all the

         18  police officers, and as a Patrol Guide, unless

         19  there's a revision to the Patrol Guide, it cannot be

         20  changed; is that not correct?

         21                 ASSISTANT CHIEF YOUNG: Correct.

         22  Correct.

         23                 But this Operations Order was also

         24  issued to every member of the service, as well.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Right,
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          2  thank you.

          3                 I wanted to bring our attention to,

          4  we talked about CompStat, and the reporting

          5  mechanisms that are currently in place. We

          6  understand that CompStat meetings, commanding

          7  officers are questioned regarding index crimes, are

          8  they also being questioned as to stop, question and

          9  frisk, and as to the question of racial profiling,

         10  and what steps are being taken or not?

         11                 ASSISTANT CHIEF YOUNG: Yes, they are.

         12  As I pointed out in my testimony, we would ask for

         13  examples of the stop, question and frisk forms, we

         14  would call for examples of them.

         15                 We will look at, part of the CompStat

         16  process is looking at the mapping of crime, and we

         17  also map the stop, question and frisk stops that are

         18  made, so those are geocoded as well.

         19                 So what we're looking for is a review

         20  of what is the types of condition, crimes, if you

         21  will, that are occurring in a particular location,

         22  and are the stops, question and frisk reports that

         23  are being prepared, are they in line with the actual

         24  conditions that are existing within that particular

         25  precinct.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Okay, I

          3  think that perhaps with respect to CompStat, some of

          4  the data that's compiled might be helpful for the

          5  Council to be able to review, specifically regarding

          6  the issue of racial profiling.

          7                 And the last two points that I have,

          8  Mr. Chair, if you will indulge me, is the case that

          9  was recently -- the Daniels' case, that settlement

         10  order, what's the time frame? How long is it in

         11  place?

         12                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZOLAND:

         13  It sunsets December 2007.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: So after

         15  September --

         16                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZOLAND:

         17  December.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: December

         19  of 2007, the provisions outlined by that settlement

         20  will in fact have expired and the New York City

         21  Police Department and the City of New York will be

         22  under no obligation to keep those things in place;

         23  is that not correct?

         24                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZOLAND:

         25  Well, I would say that we wouldn't have any more
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          2  obligation under the stipulation agreement, but many

          3  of the items, as was said in the testimony, had been

          4  implemented without regard to the settlement. They

          5  also reflect New York State and US Constitutional

          6  Law, they also, I think, have become programmatic in

          7  our training, and other parts of the Department. So

          8  that you're right, there would be no legal

          9  obligation under the settlement agreement go forward

         10  with the provisions of the agreement, but I believe

         11  there are other compelling reasons and legal reasons

         12  why we would continue with provisions of the

         13  settlement agreement.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: I

         15  understand the Department's position, but I just

         16  want to additionally in support of my colleague Phil

         17  Reed whose purpose and intent was to codify this to

         18  some degree and clearly the stipulation form

         19  provides some type of codification because there's

         20  an agreement between the City and the parties in the

         21  court, and that's why his intent which I support to

         22  codify it I think is so important.

         23                 Specifically relating to Operations

         24  Order No. 11, in the first paragraph it says racial

         25  profiling is defined -- excuse me, the second. It
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          2  says, "Officers are reminded that the use of

          3  characteristics, such as religion, age, gender,

          4  gender identity or sexual orientation as a

          5  determinative factor for taking police action is

          6  prohibited."

          7                 I would offer up my layman's advice

          8  into this, and that would be that this Operation

          9  Order should be much more specific and be used

         10  specifically outlining when police officers can in

         11  fact stop someone.

         12                 For instance, to say that there needs

         13  to be -- race or ethnicity cannot be a determinative

         14  factor, but in fact must have the other factors,

         15  height, weight, skin tone. One of the things I

         16  always found when they use the term "Hispanic," well

         17  Hispanics come in all shades. I mean, some people

         18  might not think I'm Hispanic, and I might not have

         19  the same characteristics of someone from a certain

         20  part of Mexico or Peru, but we're both termed

         21  Hispanic.

         22                 The same case goes for African

         23  Americans. You use the term "black," there are some

         24  light skin blacks, there's some dark skin blacks,

         25  there's some blacks that have cropped hair and
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          2  others that have Afros. So, I think that the order

          3  would serve a better purpose if it was more explicit

          4  to that, and I think that would be helpful to us.

          5                 Thank you very much for your

          6  cooperation today.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

          8  Council member. I was actually going to mention the

          9  same thing. You questioned our definition and I

         10  understand now exactly what you were saying and

         11  perhaps we can work on that, but your definition

         12  does say "determinative factor," and Council Member

         13  Monserrate was an officer on the street, but if

         14  there's a description out there male Hispanic, red

         15  shirt, what does an officer do? What's the

         16  determinative factor under that definition?

         17                 ASSISTANT CHIEF YOUNG: Independent of

         18  a male Hispanic with a red shirt, in addition to,

         19  you would have the officer experience relative to

         20  what exactly are we talking about in terms of your

         21  crime; what is the hour of the day? What's the

         22  location where the stop is going to take place?

         23  What's the officer's experience relative to the

         24  crime that's being complained of.

         25                 So, you know, in addition to male
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          2  Hispanic, red shirt, there are a number of other

          3  determinant factors that are going to go along, that

          4  the officer is going to need to consider based upon

          5  his experience and based upon his training, and

          6  based upon his interaction with the complainant.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I understand

          8  that, and it's obviously not the Police Officer's

          9  fault, but many times the only description he has is

         10  what he gets from the complainant, and the

         11  complainant may only give you, the only thing I'm

         12  sure about is male black or male white, the rest is

         13  all a blur. And, so, I agree with Council Member

         14  Monserrate, perhaps we can all come to a better

         15  description here to help the police officers on the

         16  street.

         17                 Council Member Gonzalez.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ: Thank you.

         19                 First of all, Chief Young, I'd like

         20  to thank you for your statement and for all the

         21  information and respect to all the improvements in

         22  the protocol, which will ultimately end racial

         23  profiling. But I do have a question. In your

         24  statement on page five, I believe it is? Yes, page

         25  five. There is a Quality Assurance Division. I was

                                                            57

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  wondering, in respect to this particular division,

          3  you have numbers or staff in respect to either

          4  different precincts or commands that did not utilize

          5  the form, and also about the technology; is it up to

          6  par?

          7                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZOLAND:

          8  Regarding the Quality Assurance Division Audits,

          9  that is actually a project that has been undertaken

         10  in the last year, and it took quite some time to

         11  develop the worksheets and I believe that no data

         12  has been collected yet, and I think that will be

         13  happening in the early part of this year, so there

         14  is no statistics we can share with you on that.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ: So that

         16  would be like a work in progress. That's a very

         17  important piece, the QA, so I thank you for adding

         18  that to it and let's work at it.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Let me also

         21  mention that as you are well aware and as you

         22  testified, your Department does give the City

         23  Council on a quarterly basis, up until recently of

         24  course, but that's a whole other story, the

         25  statistics, your stop and frisk report, based on the
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          2  police disclosure bill, which was passed previous to

          3  this Council. And we have been using those and

          4  they've been a tremendous help to us, and as some of

          5  us assumed prior to getting the statistics, they do

          6  in fact, while they're open to interpretation, bear

          7  out what the Police Department has been saying.

          8                 My Public Safety Staff led by Ted

          9  Baecher and Michele Kalafer and others have done

         10  extensive evaluations of those stop and frisk

         11  statistics, and for the most part they do mirror the

         12  amount of open complaints in particular areas for

         13  race and gender and those type of statistics.

         14                 We're aware that not all stops are

         15  based on identifications, but as far as the

         16  announcements we did, there was no skewing of those

         17  statistics, they did in fact mirror the complaints,

         18  and that's something that I think in fact is good

         19  for the public to know. And it's a reason why

         20  shedding light on these type things, by having a

         21  hearing like this and by inquiring that information

         22  is very often good for the Police Department.

         23                 Council Member Monserrate.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Thank you.

         25                 Thank you, Mr. Chair, for giving me
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          2  the opportunity to ask a few follow-up questions.

          3                 The Academy and in-service training,

          4  this is a question I have with respect to

          5  specifically non-uniformed personnel but what our

          6  undercover officers are doing. We know that there's

          7  no longer per se a street crimes unit; is that not

          8  correct, gentlemen?

          9                 ASSISTANT CHIEF YOUNG: That's

         10  correct.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: And in

         12  fact, currently there are still anti-crime units and

         13  other types, maybe you can give us a brief listing

         14  of some of those units and how they interact with

         15  the subject.

         16                 ASSISTANT CHIEF YOUNG: On a precinct

         17  level you have -- you're talking about plain clothes

         18  units.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Yes, plain

         20  clothes units.

         21                 ASSISTANT CHIEF YOUNG: On a precinct

         22  level you have anti-crime officers being led by a

         23  sergeant with oversight by a special operations

         24  lieutenant, and of course the commanding officer.

         25                 Also within the precinct you may have
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          2  some plain clothes officers assigned to the Street

          3  Narcotic Enforcement Unit.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Do we have

          5  any numbers, on any given day in the New York City

          6  Police Department, in the Police Department, how

          7  many undercover officers in plainclothes are in New

          8  York City? Whether they're narcotics or anti-crime

          9  or auto crime or any of the other units, how many

         10  plainclothes officers are on our streets engaging in

         11  stop, question and frisks?

         12                 ASSISTANT CHIEF YOUNG: Your question

         13  is somewhat confusing.

         14                 When we talk about undercover

         15  officers, that's a distinct operational deployment.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: All right,

         17  so, let me clarify.

         18                 Plainclothes officers, crime units,

         19  auto crime, anti-crime and the other units that are

         20  out there, similar type work?

         21                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH: (Not identified

         22  for the record.) Well, we don't count them by their

         23  function on individual days. I mean, we have

         24  probably roughly 3,000 narcotics officers, each

         25  precinct will have a certificate number of five to
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          2  ten to 20 anti-crime officers, the Borough would

          3  have anti-crime teams. So we have numbers out there

          4  but we don't track them by their performance on a

          5  given day. They're operational on a day, they might

          6  be in training for a day so they might not be --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: I'm trying

          8  to establish a ball-park number here, and what I'm

          9  getting at, let me tell you what I'm getting at,

         10  that might be helpful for your response.

         11                 There are officers assigned to

         12  specific units that have the highest propensity of

         13  in fact conducting a stop, question and/or frisk,

         14  which could theoretically, based on some of our

         15  arguments, lead to racial profiling.

         16                 So, I'm trying to specify what is the

         17  pool of officers that has this heightened duty of

         18  specifically stopping people on the street, while

         19  investigating crimes?

         20                 ASSISTANT CHIEF YOUNG: Those numbers

         21  could be supplied. I would think the units that

         22  you're talking about on a precinct level would be

         23  the precinct anti-crime, on the borough level would

         24  be the borough anti-crime, from an individual bureau

         25  units, I would say the gang suppression unit might
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          2  be another unit, as well as relative to --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Let me

          4  withdraw the question.

          5                 The point I'm really trying to get to

          6  is the following: This is the point. We know that

          7  anti-crime units, whether they're boroughwide, or

          8  citywide, well, there's no Citywide now, but

          9  boroughwide or precinct-wide, or any of the other

         10  officers that are engaging in investigating on the

         11  street and in the field. They get field information,

         12  they go out, they stop people, obviously more areas,

         13  specific areas in this City there used to be more

         14  stops, which will be the second question.

         15                 But what I'm trying to get at, is

         16  there any specific training pamphlet document guide

         17  that you give specifically to those officers on a

         18  day-to-day basis are doing this type of function, as

         19  opposed to patrol officers who are engaging in 50

         20  other things.

         21                 ASSISTANT CHIEF YOUNG: They would be

         22  given the training, and in the testimony those

         23  special units of enforcement would be given training

         24  related to those policies on racial profiling, our

         25  policies to stop, question and frisk, you know, what
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          2  are determinant factors, what are the constitutional

          3  issues related to the performance, their appropriate

          4  performance day-to-day.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Okay, I

          6  would then make a request, Mr. Chair, if you will

          7  indulge my request, that the Department provide to

          8  this Committee the documents that you use

          9  specifically for training those individuals, which I

         10  think there's marked difference in their mandate on

         11  a daily basis.

         12                 I want to redirect back to some of

         13  the earlier questions that I had regarding the

         14  statistics of disciplining police officers.

         15                 I want to say that it's unfortunate

         16  that those statistics are not available to us today,

         17  and that I in fact believe they should have been

         18  readily available.

         19                 I think that the issue is one that is

         20  extremely sensitive and I will speak freely in the

         21  black, Latino community, which the co-chair, myself

         22  and Helen Foster, it is an even more heightened

         23  issue. And I can tell you that in my district in

         24  Corona and Jackson Heights I still get complaints

         25  about racial profiling of individuals who say they
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          2  have done nothing but stand on the street corner and

          3  be harassed or even frisked.

          4                 Now, I know that the Police

          5  Department is doing an effective job at crime

          6  fighting. Our interest here is to maintain that

          7  balance, and we are hindered as a body when the

          8  agency that we are dependent upon does not readily

          9  have information available to us.

         10                 The disciplinary records or

         11  statistics, which I know the Department has had more

         12  than their full of in the last few months in light

         13  of the other settlement on another case, to be able

         14  to provide statistical data to us as to officers who

         15  have in fact been disciplined and what their

         16  discipline was. It is vital to what we're trying to

         17  get to the bottom of. And it is unacceptable that

         18  the agency does not have this present. In this case

         19  it's the Police Department, had it been another

         20  agency, I would be saying the same thing.

         21                 We need that information so that we

         22  can continue to do that oversight mandate as the

         23  legislators of the City Council here.

         24                 So, what I'm asking now is, when will

         25  the Department provide to this Committee that
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          2  information?

          3                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH: Well, let me

          4  just say also, we'll get that information if we can

          5  pull it out, but over the last five years, over the

          6  last five years, through CCRB there have been 4,000,

          7  roughly over 4,200 allegations of abuse of authority

          8  relating to frisks and/or searches. Now, just abuse

          9  of authority, of those 4,000, 4,200 actually over

         10  the five years, 322 were substantiated. The

         11  remainder were either, the majority were exonerated,

         12  the officer was completely exonerated or the

         13  allegation was completely unfounded,

         14  unsubstantiated.

         15                 So, we will try to get you as much

         16  information as we can.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: I just

         18  want to be clear. The 4,200 number is specifically

         19  what charge?

         20                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH: Those are

         21  allegations that the CCRB lists abusive of authority

         22  relating to frisks and/or searchers, from 1999 to

         23  2003, that was in their published report, what

         24  they've received. Of those 4,200, I think it's 4,240

         25  actually, 322 they substantiated.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: CCRB

          3  substantiated?

          4                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH: Yes, it's about

          5  seven percent they substantiated.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: And how

          7  many did the Department, after receiving those

          8  charges from CCRB, either the Department or OATH,

          9  how many of them were eventually found guilty or

         10  negotiated a plea?

         11                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH: I don't have

         12  that information. We'll get that for you.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: It will be

         14  extremely important, Mr. Chair, for us to compare

         15  the amount of complaints that were substantiated by

         16  CCRB, and then in fact how many of those cases

         17  actually wound up in the guilty or in the plea

         18  arrangement with the officer and the agency. But at

         19  the very least, we have a better understanding now

         20  that between the years of 1999 and 2003, 322 cases

         21  of abuse regarding the stop, question or frisk were

         22  substantiated by CCRB?

         23                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH: Correct. 322

         24  out of 4,240 allegations.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Now, I
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          2  want to ask you the next point, and for the record,

          3  it's important to know that many advocates have

          4  complained for years that CCRB does not have the

          5  funding to properly do enough investigations, and

          6  they are under certain time refrains from being able

          7  to substantiate, because officers also have the

          8  right to be charged in a timely fashion, which is

          9  correct.

         10                 But out of the 322 substantiated

         11  cases, do you have a ratio or ethic breakdown of the

         12  complaints?

         13                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH: No, I don't.

         14  We'd have to get that from CCRB. We can probably get

         15  that information.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Okay. This

         17  is another piece of information that is extremely

         18  important. We're talking about the issue of racial

         19  profiling and officers that their complaints were

         20  substantiated, we need to know who the complainants

         21  of those complaints. We need to know, first and

         22  foremost, and I believe CCRB does deal with that.

         23  Out of the 4,200 people, Phil, 4,200 people made

         24  complaints to CCRB regarding the stop, question and

         25  frisk, under abuse between '99 and 2003, out of
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          2  those 322 were substantiated by CCRB, sent over to

          3  the Department for discipline, they're going to get

          4  us some statistics as to what discipline was doled

          5  out, two of those 322, and I'm also asking the

          6  Police Department to give us a breakdown of who are

          7  those 4,200 complaints, what their racial and ethnic

          8  breakdown are, and the same numbers with respect to

          9  the 322 substantiated cases by CCRB.

         10                 And again, to the members of the

         11  Department, I think the information is crucial. It's

         12  unfortunate that it's not here today. I think that

         13  it would have gone a long way towards enlightening

         14  this Committee and this body, and it is my hope that

         15  we can in fact set a date which I think is

         16  reasonable for us to get this information.

         17                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH: If I may also

         18  say one thing? It's not 4,240 complainants

         19  necessarily, it's 4,240 allegations. You could have

         20  multiple allegations from one individual.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Okay.

         22                 Well, 4,200 complaints or

         23  allegations.

         24                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH: Allegations,

         25  they're different. One complaint can have several
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          2  allegations.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:

          4  Allegations.

          5                 It's 4,200 allegations.

          6                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH: Correct.

          7                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZOLAND:

          8  I just wanted to say that in the discussions of the

          9  parameter of the hearing, we did not know that would

         10  be one of the questions asked. If we did, we would

         11  have come prepared to answer that question.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Okay.

         13  Well, let me just add to that, and I understand

         14  that. But also there's an obligation on the part of

         15  the agency not specifically to deal with what we

         16  give you on black and white, we're dealing with the

         17  issue of racial profiling, and we're dealing with

         18  the fact that there's a stipulation in the Daniels'

         19  case, we're dealing with a lot of factors. We're

         20  dealing with the Attorney General's Report. We're

         21  dealing with a whole host of factors. Obviously, the

         22  Department action or inaction regarding the

         23  disciplining of officers who were or were not

         24  engaged in this is an extremely important factor in

         25  this discussion. And I understand that you don't
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          2  have it today.

          3                 My request, my public request is that

          4  that information be provided as soon as possible,

          5  perhaps within 30 days, if possible, so that we can

          6  analyze that and be better apt to deal with the job

          7  we have of legislating.

          8                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZOLAND:

          9  We understand your request and the importance of the

         10  information, and we'll get it to you.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Thank you

         12  very much.

         13                 I thank you, Mr. Chair.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

         15  Council member.

         16                 I understand that you have to leave

         17  soon. So, we'll have questions from Council Member

         18  Katz and Council Member Foster, and then we'll most

         19  likely be done.

         20                 But let me also welcome Council

         21  Member Gennaro.

         22                 Council Member Katz.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Hello. Thank you

         24  for allowing me to ask some questions.

         25                 I came in the middle of Councilman
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          2  Reed's questioning regarding the reporting

          3  requirements, but when speaking to Counsel I

          4  understand that I have a different issue.

          5                 So, I just want to get the facts

          6  straight, because I'm a little unclear as to the

          7  facts.

          8                 The reporting requirements in 14-303,

          9  my question is, I understand that there's this form

         10  that's filled by the police officers after they make

         11  a stop and frisk, and there are certain questions

         12  that when asked of the police officer after a stop

         13  and frisk, I guess I'm a little unclear. If we don't

         14  require this information in 14-303 to be given to

         15  the CCRB, I guess I'm not really clear who is

         16  watching the shop. Like, who then would check this

         17  form? Because I assume that your argument is that a

         18  lot of the stuff that's in here, which is 14/303 is

         19  already in the form; is that correct?

         20                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZOLAND:

         21  Yes, that's part of it.

         22                 And to answer your question, we have

         23  an internal Quality Assurance Division which is

         24  charged with the responsibility of auditing many of

         25  the operations within the Police Department. They
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          2  have developed an audit form which would be used to

          3  measure compliance with Department regulations,

          4  vis-a-vis filling out specifically those forms.

          5                 In addition, precincts have a

          6  self-inspection program --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I'm having

          8  trouble hearing you. I apologize. Please. Thank you.

          9  No, it's on now. We're the New York City Council,

         10  it's got to be off to be on.

         11                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZOLAND:

         12  I believe there is a precinct self-inspection

         13  program which also review the certain number of

         14  arrests monthly for stop and frisk activity and they

         15  look at the form so that between the self-inspection

         16  and the Quality Assurance Division audit function we

         17  will be paying attention to whether these are being

         18  appropriately filled out and they're appropriate.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: So there is

         20  really two issues here: I guess one is whether or

         21  not the Police Department feels that the City

         22  Council has a right to tell one agency what to give

         23  another, right? That's the first issue.

         24                 The second issue is whether or not

         25  this information that we're requiring, or that we
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          2  would like to have reported to the CCRB is already

          3  requested on this form.

          4                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZOLAND:

          5  I think, if I understand your two questions

          6  correctly, I think, yes, the first part is we do

          7  believe that it does interfere with interagency

          8  prerogative and mayoral prerogative for the counsels

          9  to tell the agencies how they should corporate, and

         10  if CCRB has an abuse of authority complaint, they

         11  will be provided with any available documentation.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I guess my real

         13  concern is, we don't require this information to go

         14  to the CCRB, which is really more of an independent,

         15  I don't know if it's true or not, it's considered

         16  somewhat of an independent agency -- I don't even

         17  know if it's an agency, to look into these types of

         18  complaints.

         19                 The only way that these forms that

         20  the police officers have to -- have to be filled out

         21  after they do a stop and frisk, that anyone sort of

         22  watching the shop, are the supervisors on the Police

         23  Department, correct?

         24                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZOLAND:

         25  Well, no, there is a unit whose function is audit.
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          2  They audit our payroll, they audit our time record,

          3  they audit just about, they have about 40 or 50

          4  items that they audit and that's their job, that

          5  they audit Police Department functions, and this

          6  will be part of their annual mandate.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: But they're

          8  getting the things that they audit from this form?

          9                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZOLAND:

         10  And other forms within the Department, yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: And ultimately,

         12  Council is informing me that ultimately there are

         13  three ways that this can actually be verified and

         14  checked, so we can get our statistics of how many

         15  stops are black and Latino, or how many stops are

         16  Asian or how many stops are whatever ethnic

         17  background, and that would be either the Police

         18  Department's internal investigation, the Daniels'

         19  case, or the Council in their oversight basically?

         20                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZOLAND:

         21  Basically I think so.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: And the Police

         23  Department doesn't have an issue, however, with this

         24  information that's in 14/303 coming to the Council,

         25  I assume, because we've already passed a law that
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          2  says that information should be reported to the

          3  Council. You know, that all the information --

          4                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZOLAND:

          5  Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Is this part of,

          7  and I should ask Counsel then, of the information

          8  that the police doesn't want posted publicly, or

          9  have we not decided on that yet?

         10                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: It's part of

         11  the issue.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: It's part of the

         13  issue. We have an issue now, just so everybody is

         14  pretty much informed of it, as to how or whether the

         15  Police Department can determine that things can be

         16  reported to the Council, and obviously their role is

         17  oversight, that would be normal, and then whether or

         18  not that same information should be posted on the

         19  internet so that everyone could publicly view it,

         20  and I believe that that's one of the items right now

         21  up for discussion, as to whether this information

         22  should be posted publicly after it's reported to the

         23  Council; are you aware of that?

         24                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZOLAND:

         25  I'm familiar with the issue slightly.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Then CCRB could

          3  get this information off the internet, is really my

          4  point. I'm just saying if it was included.

          5                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZOLAND:

          6  Well, I don't know if I'm prepared to discuss that

          7  specific issue today.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I appreciate

          9  that. I really was more just concerned as to how the

         10  internal process worked, and when they audited,

         11  exactly what they were auditing. Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Council Member

         13  Foster, and let me also welcome Council Member

         14  Yassky.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Thank you.

         16  Quickly.

         17                 New recruits in the Academy are given

         18  training of racial profiling and ethnic profiling?

         19                 ASSISTANT CHIEF YOUNG: Yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: And what

         21  briefly does that training consist of?

         22                 ASSISTANT CHIEF YOUNG: In the

         23  curriculum for the recruit training, which is then

         24  revised under Deputy Commissioner James Fyfe, in the

         25  knowledge and fitness term, which is the first 15
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          2  weeks of the Academy, under the introduction to law

          3  and justice, constitutional guarantees and the laws

          4  of arrest are specifically spoken of in that

          5  particular subject.

          6                 Policing professionally talks to the

          7  issues of ethics and integrity and Department

          8  values, which will bring in racial profiling and its

          9  policy.

         10                 On policing impartially, the racial

         11  profiling policy Operations Order No. 11 is spoken

         12  of and addressed specifically.

         13                 On policing legally, street

         14  encounters, the standards of proof are addressed as

         15  it relates to stop, question and frisk under four

         16  levels. Level one being requesting information

         17  relative to what's the authority of the officer,

         18  common law inquiry, our level three encounter, stop,

         19  question and frisk, and level four encounter which

         20  would be arrest.

         21                 Another component in the training

         22  would be addressing discretion, which would address

         23  the issue of impartial enforcement, the issue of

         24  equity and fairness.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: And this takes
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          2  place in the 15 weeks you just mentioned?

          3                 ASSISTANT CHIEF YOUNG: Including

          4  others, if you would want. Including more subject

          5  matter.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: But this is

          7  the 15 weeks?

          8                 ASSISTANT CHIEF YOUNG: This is within

          9  the first 15 weeks.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Within the

         11  first 15 weeks.

         12                 ASSISTANT CHIEF YOUNG: Yes.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Okay. And is

         14  there then follow-up, after I have graduated and I'm

         15  out in the field, do we have additional courses,

         16  follow-up with those same new recruits that are now

         17  on the force and then are there classes? Or how is

         18  this information disseminated for officers that are

         19  currently on the force?

         20                 ASSISTANT CHIEF YOUNG: Well, after

         21  graduating from the Academy, we have the ongoing

         22  in-service training component, training and review

         23  is done at Department procedures, including the

         24  stop, question and frisk, as well as the laws of

         25  arrest is incorporated into several training
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          2  programs.

          3                 One training program would include

          4  our intact and lead training where we have our

          5  police officers and supervisors reviewing procedures

          6  relating to the preparation of the stop, question

          7  and frisk, and this is done semi-annually one-day

          8  training for each of the officers.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Is it

         10  mandatory?

         11                 ASSISTANT CHIEF YOUNG: Yes, it is.

         12                 We also have TactCom (phonetic)

         13  training. Police officers displaying a need for

         14  additional training or identified by their

         15  commanding officers and required to attend a

         16  tactical communication skills program. The program

         17  is designed to enhance the officer's effectiveness

         18  when interacting with the public in a variety of

         19  situations, including the stop, question and frisk

         20  and arrest situations.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: So, for

         22  example, with Operation Order, it was dated,

         23  Operation Order No. 11, it was dated March 13th,

         24  '02, if say the yearly training was in February,

         25  then how is this order, it's just given out to the
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          2  officers and they read it and tuck it in their

          3  handbook? Or how is that incorporated into what they

          4  do out on the street?

          5                 ASSISTANT CHIEF YOUNG: Well, in

          6  Operations Order 11, what the procedure would be is

          7  that we also have unit training prior to and

          8  immediately after normal tours of duty. So, for

          9  example, an order such as Operations Order 11 coming

         10  out, you would see that Operations Order being

         11  addressed and spoken about at post or pre-roll call

         12  instructions relating to the specific and the

         13  meaning of Operations Order 11 racial profile.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.

         16                 I'm going to end the questioning and

         17  just go to a brief statement to the sponsor Phil

         18  Reed.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Yes, thank you.

         20                 Again, when I leave here I'm going to

         21  remind myself that we have a lot of common ground,

         22  more of that than we had of others, and I'm

         23  appreciative of my colleagues trying to kind of feel

         24  out some of these questions so we can work together

         25  on this.
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          2                 It is frustrating, however, and I

          3  want you to know, that I personally reached out to

          4  the Administration, in terms of the CCRB coming and

          5  answering some of these questions, I was told they

          6  had more than two weeks notice. They didn't feel

          7  like coming. They finally gave us written testimony.

          8  The Administration told me that they don't have the

          9  authority, the power, to insist on having the CCRB

         10  come and testify.

         11                 So, we're all sort of stuck between

         12  waiting to see what they do and when we see here the

         13  number of complaints that are filed, et cetera, et

         14  cetera, we at least want to make sure the Police

         15  Department is getting all the information to them.

         16                 Now, they will be here asking for

         17  money next month at the Preliminary hearing, so

         18  maybe we'll capture their attention then.

         19                 I also wanted to stay thank you once

         20  again. I'm looking forward to us working together

         21  with our Council to construct a bill that's good for

         22  the City of New York.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I'll open up the

         25  floor just for one final question for Council Member
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          2  Yassky, and then you'll be on your way.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you very

          5  much.

          6                 Thank you, Chair Vallone, and thank

          7  you, the panel. I appreciate it. I know you're under

          8  time constraints.

          9                 I regard this as one of the most

         10  difficult issues that you in the Police Department

         11  have to figure out how to address, because there is

         12  the obvious balance between individual rights, civil

         13  rights, and public safety, and I absolutely accept

         14  the Department's good faith in your efforts to

         15  address it, and I commend you for the time and

         16  effort that the Department over the years put in.

         17                 My question is, among the record on

         18  this, one of the aspects that I find the most

         19  troubling is from the Attorney General's report

         20  going back a few years now, finding a far greater

         21  incidents of stops in minority neighborhoods than in

         22  white neighborhoods, and this to me speaks not to

         23  what's going on in individual officer's heads, and

         24  whether there's bias that needs to be combatted

         25  there, but patterns of deployment, and I'm wondering
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          2  whether you agree that with the Attorney General's

          3  finding, whether you agree that there's a problem,

          4  whether you think that there is a problem with a

          5  higher percentage of folks being stopped in minority

          6  neighborhoods, in white neighborhoods, and if so --

          7  you know, because to me this speaks to now what's

          8  the -- this speaks to the stop or just walking while

          9  black problem.

         10                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH: If I may? We

         11  don't agree with the Attorney General's report. For

         12  one reason, it was a flawed analysis on using

         13  general population statistics, rather than criminal

         14  population statistics.

         15                 Now, it's true we deploy more

         16  resources in minority communities, minority

         17  communities have been victimized by violent crime at

         18  a disproportionate rate than other communities.

         19                 So, it's natural that we would put

         20  more resources into an area that's experiencing high

         21  volumes of violent crime.

         22                 Also, the victims of the violent

         23  crime identify suspects of violent crime, and the

         24  identity of the suspect of violent crime, by the

         25  victims of violent crime, are on average 85 percent
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          2  -- I'm sorry, 89 percent black and Latino, and of

          3  black and Latino are stopped at about 82 percent of

          4  our stop and frisk reports.

          5                 So, I mean, we're making a stop based

          6  on victims' descriptions of suspects of violent

          7  crime, victims who are overwhelmingly black and

          8  Latino themselves, and that's why we focus more

          9  resources there.

         10                 The Attorney General's report didn't

         11  take into account that we have additional resources

         12  in minority communities to address violent crime,

         13  and we brought violent crime down in predominantly

         14  minority communities, at probably a greater rate

         15  than in other areas of the City.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay. I don't

         17  want to take too much time. Thank you, and I'd like

         18  to follow up with you then, you know, outside the

         19  Committee's time on that. Thank you.

         20                 ASSISTANT CHIEF YOUNG: Council

         21  Member, just, you know, in addition to the

         22  statistical overview that Chief Gerrish gave you, it

         23  was mentioned earlier in the testimony we spoke

         24  about the CompStat review to ensure that where are

         25  the stop, questions and frisks being conducted, and
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          2  then the relationship to that to where the crime is

          3  and there's a geocoding of both the stop, question

          4  and frisk, as well as the crime and conditions that

          5  are taking place. So, from the CompStat review, on

          6  an operational level, you know, for smart police

          7  tactics, we are looking for the appropriate

          8  deployment and the appropriate locations to address

          9  the appropriate conditions.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

         11  Council member, for shortening your questions. And

         12  as I said before, the Committee's analysis of your

         13  numbers does in fact verify your last statements.

         14                 Gentlemen and ladies, we all share

         15  the same goals here, I believe, to eradicate all

         16  vestiges of racial profiling. The Council does not

         17  want to burden the Police Department unduly, but we

         18  do want to ensure the public that racial profiling

         19  is against the law and will continue to be past this

         20  Administration and this Police Commissioner. So, we

         21  look forward to working with you to achieve that

         22  goal, and we thank you for your testimony today.

         23                 Our next panel will be Nancy Chang,

         24  the Center for Constitutional Rights, who was the

         25  head attorney in the Daniels' case, and Robert
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          2  Perry, from the NYCLU.

          3                 Thank you, both, for coming down

          4  today.

          5                 Ms. Chang, we do have your testimony.

          6  I do notice it's single spaced and six pages, so I

          7  assume you're going to sum it up a little bit?

          8                 Thank you. And to turn the mic on,

          9  you have to turn the light off. Thanks.

         10                 MS. CHANG: Okay. Thank you. I will

         11  try to summarize my remarks.

         12                 We applaud the Public Safety

         13  Committee for holding today's hearing. We think at

         14  the Center that the need for this legislation is

         15  critical. Racial profiling is, of course, wrong,

         16  both legally and morally, and it is also bad

         17  policing.

         18                 The reason why legislation is

         19  required is that the Operations Order 11 can be

         20  rescinded at will by the Police Department at this

         21  time. The Daniels settlement does require that the

         22  Police Department maintain, until the termination

         23  date, which is December 31st, 2007, a police -- a

         24  racial profiling policy that meets the requirements

         25  of the Constitution, but what the City of New York
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          2  needs is a firm piece of legislation that anchors a

          3  standard and makes it law, and has permanency. We

          4  feel that will go far to quiet racial tensions in

          5  the City.

          6                 One problem that we've identified

          7  with the legislation is the definition of racial

          8  profiling. It is somewhat unclear as to exact

          9  meaning, and we propose in the Center's comments

         10  that the Committee examine a new health bill that is

         11  introduced this Thursday, February 26th, called the

         12  End Racial Profiling Act, will have the support of

         13  approximately 100 representatives in the house, and

         14  it has wide bipartisan support. And the definition,

         15  which I'll just read quickly, in that bill will be

         16  as follows:

         17                 "The practice of a law enforcement

         18  agent relying to any degree on race, ethnicity,

         19  religion or national origin in selecting which

         20  individuals to subject to routine or spontaneous

         21  investigatory activities or in deciding upon the

         22  scope and substance of law enforcement activity

         23  following the initial investigatory procedure,

         24  except where there is trustworthy information

         25  relevant to the locality and time frame that links
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          2  persons of a particular race, ethnicity, religion,

          3  or national origin to an identified criminal

          4  incident or scheme."

          5                 And we would simply as that the

          6  Committee take this into account.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I think, Ms.

          8  Chang, there are absolutely some elements of that

          9  that we can use, especially the last two lines, so

         10  thank you for that.

         11                 There are absolutely some elements of

         12  that that we can use in settling the debates we had

         13  earlier that you were listening to.

         14                 MS. CHANG: I hope so. Thank you for

         15  examining this.

         16                 And another point that we would like

         17  to add is that the recording of data on stops and

         18  frisks cover, whether the -- or distinguished

         19  between actions that were spontaneous or based on

         20  suspect descriptions or part of a specific criminal

         21  investigation. We feel that's important so that we

         22  can determine whether those statistics can be

         23  compared to the statistics that the NYPD just

         24  provided with respect to suspect profiles.

         25                 We also think it's very important
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          2  that the outcome of stop frisks, stops and frisks be

          3  noted, because it's important to determine whether

          4  there are arrests and convictions as a result of

          5  stops and frisks, it's important to determine how

          6  many African Americans are being stopped for each

          7  arrest and conviction, and it's important to compare

          8  that figure for Hispanics and whites and other

          9  groups as well.

         10                 Finally, I would like to add that

         11  there are steps that could be taken to ensure

         12  against under-reporting of stops and frisks and

         13  inaccurate reporting. A problem that was identified

         14  by the New York State Attorney General in his 1999

         15  investigation is that a large percentage of stops

         16  and frisks are not recorded by the police and if we

         17  don't have those reports, we are not able to

         18  evaluate whether racial profiling is taking place.

         19                 There are some measures, including

         20  one recommended by the CCRB in its report in June

         21  2001, which includes providing stop receipts to

         22  individuals who are stopped.

         23                 In the case of plain clothes

         24  officers, this may be the only way to hold the

         25  officer accountable. It's very difficult for
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          2  individuals who are stopped to obtain the names of

          3  plainclothes officers, and trace them to their

          4  precincts, and this may be part of why the CCRB

          5  statistics were very low, 332 out of 4,000 and

          6  change, and I would ask the Council to examine

          7  whether this played a role.

          8                 We also note that public education is

          9  a very important matter. It is included in the

         10  Daniels' settlement and we ask the Committee to

         11  consider mandating public education forums in high

         12  schools, housing projects, community centers, on

         13  racial profiling policy and the legal rights of

         14  those who are stopped, questioned and frisked.

         15                 We believe that an informed public is

         16  essential to bringing about the end of racial

         17  profiling in law enforcement.

         18                 Thank you for your important work,

         19  and we're very happy at the center to help in any

         20  way possible to provide information and statistics.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you, Ms.

         22  Chang.

         23                 Stop receipts is a very interesting

         24  idea. Especially, I'm a former Defense Attorney

         25  also, and much of our time was just spent in trying
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          2  to find out which officer was involved.

          3                 Before I move on to Mr. Perry, Ms.

          4  Chang, do you have any specific recommendations on

          5  how to define a law enforcement agency?

          6                 MS. CHANG: We like the idea of

          7  uniformity among agents within the City, and that's

          8  very important. Operations Order No. 11 only goes to

          9  the NYPD. But as for the scope of the law

         10  enforcement agencies, we leave that to others.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Mr. Perry.

         12                 MR. PERRY: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         13                 I've got much more to say, I'm

         14  afraid, than you probably want to hear, so let me

         15  try to be as brief and succinct.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You saw how well

         17  she did that, right? That's why she won the Daniels'

         18  case apparently.

         19                 MR. PERRY: I concur with Nancy that

         20  the proposal is a significant and essential one, and

         21  that it speaks to issues of fundamental fairness and

         22  effectiveness of police practices in the City and

         23  the issue joint here is what happens when a person's

         24  race or ethnicity becomes a substitute of some

         25  evidence of wrongdoing, and therefore becomes the
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          2  rationale for stop, frisk or arrest.

          3                 The bill attempts to create some

          4  better empirical understanding of just what that's

          5  about.

          6                 I want to mention that the very

          7  notion racial profiling is considered provocative by

          8  law enforcement officials, even as the growing body

          9  of empirical data makes it clear and ever more

         10  precise that this phenomenon actually occurs.

         11                 At a national Conference on

         12  Strengthening Police Community Relations in 1999,

         13  President Bill Clinton characterized racial

         14  profiling as a deeply corrosive practice that was

         15  the opposite of good police work or actions are

         16  based on hard facts not stereotypes.

         17                 At that conference, police

         18  professionals, civil rights leaders, government

         19  officials, discussed the design and implementation

         20  of racial profiling data collection systems.

         21                 Since that date, hundreds of

         22  jurisdictions throughout the country have begun to

         23  implement these types of data collection systems,

         24  very similar to the bill before you today.

         25                 As of July 2001, 12 states have
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          2  passed legislation mandating collection of data on

          3  the race and ethnicity of persons subject to police

          4  stops.

          5                 So, I think it would be misguided to

          6  construe the bill as driven by adversaries of law

          7  enforcement officials.

          8                 In fact, law enforcement scholars

          9  have suggested that what this bill can do and bills

         10  like it can do, is provide a potential for shifting

         11  the rhetoric surrounding racial profiling from

         12  accusations and anecdotal stories and stereotypes to

         13  a more rational discussion about the appropriate

         14  allocation of police resources.

         15                 The point Council Member Reed made

         16  earlier I think is important here. The fact that the

         17  Commissioner introduced Operations Order 11

         18  prohibiting racial profiling is significant. But the

         19  suggestion that the problem is solved or

         20  significantly mitigated I think is at this point

         21  merely speculation.

         22                 Good faith is fine, but some sort of

         23  accountability and transparency is essential.

         24                 That said, I think it's important to

         25  consider that not only the CCRB and the United
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          2  States Commission on Civil Rights has documented the

          3  recent history of racial profiling, but the Attorney

          4  General's report I think was groundbreaking in this

          5  regard. I've seen no repeating evidence that has

          6  satisfactorily rebutted the Attorney General's

          7  findings, and I just want to cite a couple of them,

          8  because I think they're significant.

          9                 The analysis offered compelling

         10  empirical evidence, as compared with whites, blacks

         11  and Latinos were disproportionately stopped and

         12  frisked by police in the late 1990s. The disparity

         13  existed even when statistics were adjusted for race

         14  specific crime rates and the racial make-up of

         15  communities.

         16                 For example, even accounting for the

         17  effective different crime rates, in certain

         18  communities blacks were stopped 23 percent more

         19  often than whites across all crime categories, and

         20  the comparable rate for Latinos was 39 percent.

         21                 Again, controlling for race specific

         22  and crime specific arrest rates, blacks were stopped

         23  2.1 times more often than whites on suspicion of

         24  committing a violent crime and 2.4 times more often

         25  than whites on suspicion of carrying a weapon.
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          2                 Citywide, 14 percent of all UF-250

          3  forms failed to provide evidence sufficient to

          4  justify a stop. This is based on the police

          5  officers' own accounting in the UF-250.

          6                 The Department has suggested that

          7  these data indicate the demographics of known

          8  violent crime suspects as reported by crime victims,

          9  or continuing crime patterns in the area police.

         10                 But a significant number of police

         11  stopped, as reported in UF-250 forms, are based not

         12  on victims or witness identification, but on the

         13  initiative of the stops. And to suggest that crime

         14  patterns should serve as a rationale for

         15  disproportionate police stops of black and Latinos,

         16  is also to acknowledge that racial profiling is a

         17  policy.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Wait, wait,

         19  wait. Are you saying to me that if 80 percent of the

         20  reported crimes by victims are a certain racial

         21  group, then to acknowledge that 80 percent are being

         22  stopped by police officers outside of independent

         23  crime victims acknowledges racial profiling?

         24                 MR. PERRY: What I'm suggesting is

         25  reporting fails to account for the cop-initiated
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          2  stop. The reporting you see uses a crime victim

          3  report or a witness victim report, it's the only

          4  criteria --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Now, wouldn't

          6  you assume that the amount of crime that's not being

          7  reported but being observed would match the patterns

          8  of crime that's being reported?

          9                 MR. PERRY: I think it's a false

         10  assumption.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Keep going.

         12                 MR. PERRY: The reporting data that

         13  came out in 2001 in response to the recently-enacted

         14  City Council legislation illustrates the problem.

         15                 It cites that approximately 10,000

         16  blacks were stopped, and it says blacks in

         17  complaints were approximately 5,000, about 50

         18  percent.

         19                 Advocates suggested this showed a

         20  disproportionate affect on blacks and Latinos.

         21                 The Department said, well, you've got

         22  blacks named in 50 percent of complaints, therefore

         23  it's an appropriate number. The problem is the

         24  number did not include police-initiated stops and

         25  frisks.
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          2                 The data really are meaningless.

          3  That's the point, and I think the point the Attorney

          4  General made in his study.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: The data should

          6  include that, I agree.

          7                 MR. PERRY: Let me speak just briefly

          8  to the prohibition of racial profiling, which Nancy

          9  has already addressed to some extent.

         10                 I think it's important that the

         11  legislative proposal both defines and prohibits

         12  racial and ethnic profiling, and this is precisely

         13  what the bill would do. And the bill, as noted

         14  earlier, uses a definition of racial profiling that

         15  is consistent with the Police Department policies.

         16                 But beyond the attempt to create a

         17  rule against racial profiling in the execution of a

         18  stop and frisk, the intent of the bill acknowledges

         19  implicitly what the Supreme Court said when it found

         20  it permissible for a police officer to stop and

         21  frisk an individual even when there was not probable

         22  cause that criminal was afoot. This is the Terry v.

         23  Ohio case. Such actions, the Court observed, are

         24  inherently provocative. A frisk is a serious

         25  intrusion upon the sanctity of the person which may
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          2  inflict great indignity and arouse strong resentment

          3  and is not to be undertaken lightly.

          4                 I think this dynamic is something

          5  that's recognized in the Attorney General's report

          6  and is usually under-recognized by policy makers and

          7  by police officers.

          8                 I've heard you invoke your experience

          9  as a prosecutor a number of times in speaking about

         10  a number of issues, and in addition to my work, you

         11  know, I think it's a valid criteria on which to make

         12  judgments.

         13                 In addition to my work with the ACLU,

         14  I work with a small civil rights firm, and over the

         15  past two or three years, I've done a significant

         16  amount of civil rights litigation involving police

         17  misconduct, and I would think that if you were to

         18  hold hearings of this nature in the Bronx, in

         19  Northern Manhattan, in Central Brooklyn and East New

         20  York, you would be shocked at the types of reports

         21  you hear.

         22                 I think your citation of about a .01

         23  percent problem is significantly understating the

         24  problem. So I add that as a personal perspective on

         25  the issue.
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          2                 SPEAKER MILLER: Well, you should also

          3  know that I'm a former defense attorney, and as a

          4  prosecutor I prosecuted police brutality, I don't

          5  believe I've ever prosecuted a profiling. I don't

          6  think that fell into our purview as prosecutors, so

          7  I have experience of both ends of the hall there.

          8                 But interesting enough, the

          9  statistics which CCRB cited, which is something like

         10  300 and change verified complaints in the five-year

         11  period, does turn out to be about .06 percent, and I

         12  know there are other ones that aren't reported, but

         13  I just happened to pull that number out and it does

         14  seem to be justified by the CCRB reports.

         15                 MR. PERRY: Well, again, in the CCRB

         16  data, which is published in their 2000 report, I

         17  believe it's the 2000 publication, again they

         18  observed that African Americans accounted for 63

         19  percent of all civilian complaints arising from

         20  police-initiated street encounters, and they point

         21  out again that many of these stops were not based on

         22  witnesses or victims but on a police initiative, and

         23  these aren't captured in much of the data.

         24                 The CCRB also found in that study

         25  that as compared with whites, African Americans and
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          2  Latinos who filed a street stop complaint, more

          3  often included an excessive force allegation, and

          4  these were more often substantiated than any other

          5  type of complaint they receive.

          6                 So, I think the CCRB data bears

          7  looking at more closely.

          8                 On the issue of the definition of

          9  racial profiling, I think the suggestion that Nancy

         10  Chang made is a good one. The Conyers Bill provides

         11  I think a more clear criterion for trying to define

         12  what racial profiling is, and we would suggest that

         13  it be adopted in this bill.

         14                 Just let me speak briefly of the

         15  issue of the collective and the reporting on the

         16  demographics of police stops.

         17                 I want to point out again that it can

         18  be anticipated that this model as set out in the

         19  bill will be interpreted in certain quarters as

         20  reflecting an adversarial or hostile attitude toward

         21  the NYPD. But the question is then, why are Police

         22  Departments throughout the country collecting data

         23  on the demographics of police stops? And the

         24  research data and the research findings and studies

         25  suggest that there are good reasons for this. Let me
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          2  list a few of them.

          3                 That these data can be used to inform

          4  community police discussion about the nature of

          5  police practices and about the allocation of police

          6  resources. They can move the discussion of race from

          7  rhetoric and accusations to a more rational dialogue

          8  about appropriate law enforcement strategies.

          9                 They can provide more objective and

         10  understandable information for assessing crime and

         11  the police response to crime, and they can help

         12  develop training programs that educate police

         13  officers about the conscious and subconscious use of

         14  racial and ethnic stereotypes.

         15                 On this issue of subconscious use of

         16  stereotype, I was at the hearing when Police

         17  Commissioner Kelly was addressing the issue of

         18  no-knock warrants. It was precipitated by the death

         19  of Alberta Spruill. At that hearing he used charts

         20  to illustrate Citywide where these warrants were

         21  being issued and executed, and they tracked

         22  low-income communities of color, and the question

         23  was put to him, what does this mean, where we know

         24  that the incidence of drug use is far broader than

         25  the low-income communities of color?

                                                            102

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2                 His response to that question was:

          3   "We go where the business is." Now, I don't believe

          4  Commissioner Kelly was intending to suggest that

          5  people should be racial profiling and I would trust

          6  him not to engage in that kind of conduct, but to

          7  suggest to the patrol cop that we go where the

          8  business is may well lead to precisely the type of

          9  conduct that leads to race and ethnicity used in

         10  improper ways when engaging in stop and frisk.

         11  Meaning, if you're going to where the business is,

         12  this is where the crimes are. And that may be true,

         13  it may not be true.

         14                 Let me make three quick points again

         15  about the data collection. As I alluded to earlier,

         16  the existing provisions in the Administrative Code

         17  for collecting stop and frisk data we believe are

         18  flawed.

         19                 The current law does not require the

         20  reporting of broad data, but rather selections or

         21  summaries, and the law fails to distinguish between

         22  police-initiated stops, the ones most likely to be

         23  influenced by improper race or ethnic considerations

         24  and stops based on witness reports.

         25                 The second point, which Nancy alluded
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          2  to. Section 14-303 of the bill would require

          3  probably the integration of certain information

          4  currently reported in UF-250s, and the new

          5  information called for in the bill.

          6                 Considering the design of the new

          7  form, we urge the Committee to revisit the design of

          8  the UF-250. When it was redesigned in 2001, the form

          9  was structured so as to create a kind of a menu of

         10  options, in the worst possible scenario

         11  justifications regarding the basis for a police

         12  stop. So the cop no longer uses the narrative to

         13  describe the basis for the stop, but rather is

         14  characterized by the spokesperson in the Attorney

         15  General's Office, a series of multiple choice

         16  options, with any option being the correct one. This

         17  is not the best model.

         18                 Finally, the bill doesn't address the

         19  underreporting of police stops and UF-250s, and an

         20  analysis of police misconduct complaints conducted

         21  by the Civilian Complaint Review Board found that

         22  CompStat failed to complete the form in about 40

         23  percent of stop and frisk incidents.

         24                 As Nancy suggested, a stop and frisk

         25  receipt or something of that type that can be issued
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          2  upon the stop is I think a good suggestion.

          3                 Finally, let me just conclude by

          4  saying that deliberations on this subject can be

          5  contentious, but that's no reason I think for not

          6  proceeding.

          7                 One provision of the bill suggests

          8  that in both designing the stop and frisk form and

          9  developing the format for the reporting of data,

         10  consultation will be had with the CCRB. I think that

         11  unduly limits the input. We would hope that you

         12  would expand that to include civil rights and civil

         13  liberties organizations, academic scholars, such as

         14  Jeffrey Fagan up at Columbia, who did this study for

         15  the Attorney General, and others who have worked in

         16  this area, I think it will create a better bill.

         17                 So, in conclusion, I think the

         18  conflict that fermented by the wrongful use of race

         19  and ethnicity at the justification of a police

         20  action demands that policy-makers take up this

         21  issue, as you're doing in 142. Perhaps this hearing

         22  may be beginning of creating that law. Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.

         24                 Before I go over to Council Member

         25  Reed, let me disagree with you about Commissioner
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          2  Kelly's statement. I believe it was a breath of

          3  fresh air actually. The entire Operation Impact

          4  Program, not just the search warrant executions, but

          5  the entire program acknowledges and is a realization

          6  of the fact that certain areas are high crime areas

          7  and that's where the Police Department is now

          8  placing its effort, and it's been usually

          9  successful. So not just the search -- we might as

         10  well go all the way, not just the search warrants

         11  but the entire Police Department effort, Operation

         12  Impact now is based on the location, based on the

         13  amount of crime in certain locations, and I happen

         14  to completely agree that certain locations have a

         15  much more, a much higher incidence of crime and

         16  deserve more attention. And I was glad he said that

         17  and didn't dance around it.

         18                 Council Member Reed.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Yes. You know, I

         20  would actually support the statement that my

         21  colleague, the Chair, just made, and I certainly

         22  support with very little reservation Commissioner

         23  Kelly.

         24                 I think those communities are feeling

         25  comfortable, as we've witnessed through several
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          2  experiences that are obviously unfortunate in the

          3  death of individuals over the last two and a half

          4  years, but I think also the reaction of the

          5  community, and importantly the City, because people

          6  somehow think that it's only the "people of color

          7  communities" that are concerned about these issues,

          8  about the police and their conduct. It is certainly

          9  not the case. People all over the City are concerned

         10  about this, whether their neighborhoods are the ones

         11  that are most challenged, in terms of crime or not.

         12                 I do think that we can discern proper

         13  policing in our neighborhoods if we live in what by

         14  precinct is a high-crime neighborhood, as opposed to

         15  the abusive of power of the police individually on

         16  the street to stop, not to stop, question and frisk,

         17  but to stop and harass.

         18                 I'm looking forward to, and my

         19  question specifically is to Ms. Chang. I think in

         20  the testimony from the Police Department based on

         21  the settlement of what's called the Daniels' suit,

         22  was I correct in saying -- no?

         23                 MS. CHANG: Lead plaintiff is Kelvin

         24  Daniels.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I wanted to make
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          2  sure I understood it. The lead plaintiff name is?

          3                 MS. CHANG: Kelvin Daniels.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Kelvin, I see,

          5  okay. Then that Mr. Daniels I'm sure will want to be

          6  involved through the attorneys.

          7                 I'm glad to hear you say there's a

          8  reason to have this. We certainly want to work with

          9  you to get the language straight. We don't want to

         10  have two sets of things happening here, but you

         11  don't -- the question specifically is, you don't see

         12  any reason why we can't -- do you see a reason why

         13  we can't marry what has just come out of that

         14  settlement with what the intent of this bill is?

         15                 MS. CHANG: Absolutely. I really think

         16  it's wonderful. We should not rely on the

         17  settlement. We should have legislation in the City.

         18  We should have uniformed standards in the City, and

         19  it should not disappear when the settlement ends.

         20  So, I really think it's wonderful that you are

         21  considering this bill, and in terms of the

         22  definition, at page three I have a proposal which

         23  comes from --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Page three of

         25  your testimony?
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          2                 MS. CHANG: Yes.

          3                 I have a proposal that comes from a

          4  bill that will be introduced in the house with 100

          5  representatives in support called the "End Racial

          6  Profiling Bill" Act of 2004.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: And this

          8  definition that you have in smaller -- in this

          9  indentation, that's what you're talking about?

         10                 MS. CHANG: Yes, that's right.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Okay, thank you.

         12                 MS. CHANG: Sure.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you, Mr.

         14  Chair.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you, both,

         16  for coming down today. We'll look forward to working

         17  with you as we continue to draft and work on this

         18  bill.

         19                 MS. CHANG: Thanks.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Our next panel

         21  will consist of representatives of the Neighborhood

         22  Defender Services of Harlem and of the National

         23  Latino Officers Association.

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

         25  In the interest of time, while the Chair has stepped
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          2  out, if you will decide what order and introduce

          3  yourself. Please try to limit your testimony each to

          4  five minutes. If what you've said, what you have has

          5  been said, you can tell us that part too. If you

          6  want to make exceptions to some things, that would

          7  be the part that we'd be particularly interested in

          8  hearing. Thank you.

          9                 MR. GONZALEZ: Okay. First let me

         10  introduce myself. My name is Robert Gonzalez. I'm

         11  the First Vice President of the National Latinos

         12  Association, NYPD Chapter. I'm also a Lieutenant

         13  with the New York City Police Department, and I'm

         14  also an Adjunct Professor in Criminal Justice at

         15  Monroe College.

         16                 What I did submit is my testimony,

         17  which basically kind of reiterates a position of the

         18  organization. First and foremost, I want to thank

         19  the Committee for having us down to listen to our

         20  testimony as it relates to racial profiling.

         21                 Again, I did submit my testimony and

         22  in the interest of time I'm just going to, after

         23  listening to the Police Department's testimony I

         24  have firsthand knowledge and experience. I have

         25  listened to the Police Department's testimony by

                                                            110

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  Chief Young and the rest of the executive staff on

          3  behalf of the Police Commissioner. One issue that

          4  was brought up, the speaker that was speaking prior

          5  to us, was about the stop, question, frisk report,

          6  that was revamped in November of 2002. One issue

          7  that our organization had was with the redevelopment

          8  of that form, they eliminated the summary portion of

          9  that, which actually held the officer accountable

         10  for verbally articulating what justification he had

         11  for doing the stop, and I think the conclusion that

         12  was found, based by the Police Department, was that

         13  the officer wasn't capable of articulating verbally

         14  why he stopped someone, and that was probably

         15  objective number one, with redeveloping the new

         16  form, was to eliminate the officer from being able

         17  to verbally articulate the justification, which if

         18  anybody knows, in order to stop, question and frisk

         19  someone, you need a level of reasonable suspicion,

         20  and I think what was happening was officers were

         21  actually writing these stop, question and frisk

         22  reports and not articulating to the appropriate

         23  level, or level of proof in order to make that stop.

         24                 So that was one area that we felt was

         25  just a blanket change by the Police Department.
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          2                 Also, when we talk about what Council

          3  Member Monserrate was referring to as far as the

          4  Patrol Guide was concerned, there's a part of the

          5  Patrol Guide, 203-10, which deals with and it's

          6  titled prohibitive conduct, public contact. And I

          7  think specifically there should be some sort of

          8  entry into that particular procedure stating that if

          9  an officer engages in wrongful profiling, he should

         10  be disciplined accordingly. Because I think that's

         11  just basic English, prohibitive conduct, public

         12  contact, there should be some disciplinary

         13  stipulation on that part of the procedure of Patrol

         14  Guide, putting officers on notice, and if they

         15  engage in racial profiling, they should be

         16  disciplined accordingly.

         17                 It is also our position that the

         18  Police Department is apprehensive in actually

         19  initiating a term called racial profiling as a

         20  disciplinary penalty, because what that would do is

         21  officers would come to know that they're being

         22  disciplined for going out there and engaging in

         23  stop, question and frisk policies and would probably

         24  just shut down. So, you know what, if I'm going to

         25  go out there and I'm going to try to stop, question
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          2  and frisk individuals, and if I'm found guilty, the

          3  penalty is going to be racial profiling, I'm not

          4  going to gain the stop, question and frisk.

          5                 So, it's our position that if the

          6  Department did implement something like that, or a

          7  quote/unquote penalty label racial profiling, and

          8  officers would be against that. They probably would

          9  stop doing a stop, question and frisk, and they

         10  would probably reduce the amount of reports being

         11  generated and also reducing the amount of stops.

         12                 It is also the position of the

         13  organization that through CompStat, this universal

         14  term that has now developed in the Police

         15  Department, has created a sibling rivalry within the

         16  Department at the expense of the people of the

         17  community.

         18                 What it does is precinct commanders

         19  are now competing for better numbers in summons

         20  enforcement, and stop, question and frisk policies

         21  and arrest activities against the joining precincts.

         22  And what it's doing is, it's causing a rivalry

         23  between one captain against another, and one

         24  commanding officer to another so that he can be

         25  promoted.
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          2                 So, we think that this civil rivalry

          3  or the recording of data, as it might be

          4  occasionally misappropriately documented, has

          5  created this civil rivalry which ultimately has

          6  impacted the community and the people that we

          7  represent.

          8                 As far as police academy training is

          9  concerned, I'm a former Police Officer and Sergeant

         10  from the Police Academy, I was part of the executive

         11  staff there, a couple of years back.

         12                 One of the things the Police

         13  Department has failed to do is provide standardized

         14  scenario tapes for incidents of stop, question and

         15  frisk, and what I think specifically is, for

         16  example, they may have an in-service training

         17  program, they may have an in-service training

         18  program developed to address stop, question and

         19  frisk, however, the assessor, the person that's

         20  watching the police officer do this scenario, again,

         21  who is watching this police officer do this

         22  scenario, may assess the stop, question and frisk by

         23  that individual different.

         24                 So what the Department should do is

         25  to set up a standardized stop, question and frisk
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          2  tape, or scenario tape, that every member of the

          3  Department would see and learn and train from.

          4                 So, that's one area that we will also

          5  -- and also, in the future the Department, or the

          6  Committee, may want to look at desk appearance

          7  tickets. What we are finding is that people of color

          8  are not getting desk appearance tickets as compared

          9  to their white counterparts. Desk appearance

         10  tickets, again, there's a six-pronged step to issue

         11  someone a desk appearance ticket. So, even after the

         12  individual is stopped and brought into the precinct,

         13  within command, and at the discretion of the

         14  supervisor, they're not issuing desk appearance

         15  tickets equally and fairly.

         16                 So, people of color are just put

         17  through the system. Why? Because they're a person of

         18  color, as opposed to someone who may be of white

         19  origin who is now given a desk appearance ticket.

         20  So, something else to think about for the Committee.

         21  And pretty much, I submitted my statement, you can

         22  feel free to read it, in the interest of time. And

         23  again, on behalf of the organization and Anthony

         24  Miranda, thank you for having us down testifying.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you very
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          2  much. Again, continue in any order.

          3                 MS. GROSZ: We would like to thank the

          4  Council members for this rare opportunity to discuss

          5  an issue as important to the fabric of our society

          6  as racial and ethnic profiling.

          7                 My name is Maya Grosz, and along with

          8  me is Khurrum Wahid, and we are staff attorneys at

          9  Neighborhood Defender Service of Harlem, also known

         10  as NDS.

         11                 NDS is a community-based public

         12  defender that has served the communities of Upper

         13  Manhattan for over a decade, providing high quality

         14  representation in criminal cases and in collateral

         15  civil matters.

         16                 Our organization has been successful

         17  in its attempts to bring social justice to the

         18  Harlem communities only through the continued

         19  support of this Council and for that we at NDS thank

         20  you for your support.

         21                 First Mr. Wahid will discuss two

         22  forms of racial profiling, and then provide an

         23  overview of recent trends and specific examples of

         24  profiling we have observed in our practice, and then

         25  I will provide a brief comment on the proposed bill,
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          2  and our recommendations for improvement for the

          3  bill.

          4                 MR. WAHID: It is our position that

          5  there is essentially two types of profiling, one is

          6  overt and the other can be called covert. The overt

          7  profiling revolves essentially around the types of

          8  fact patterns that are akin to picking up a black

          9  man who is walking in a white neighborhood for no

         10  reason other than that he's black.

         11                 This type of profiling is relatively

         12  easy to combat in that we can identify it easier.

         13                 The more difficult one is what I call

         14  covert profiling. The underlying assumptions of our

         15  society at large that they make about people who

         16  live in particular neighborhoods or people that come

         17  from a particular background or look a particular

         18  way, can actually filter their way into the

         19  psychology of law enforcement personnel that come

         20  from those communities.

         21                 Such assumptions can lead to actions

         22  on the part of law enforcement officers that's not

         23  intended to be racially or ethnically motivated but

         24  in fact have that result.

         25                 We believe that this type of racial,
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          2  ethnic and religious profiling is more pervasive and

          3  impacts on our communities that we serve here in New

          4  York on a daily basis.

          5                 If we're serious, really serious

          6  about addressing the problem of racial profiling we

          7  have to be committed to rooting out a much more

          8  entrenched form of racial stereotyping. Therefore,

          9  this law must address honestly covert profiling.

         10                 The core of our message can be

         11  summarized in two points: One, no law can be

         12  effective on profiling unless it recognizes what we

         13  really mean by profiling in a practical sense; and,

         14  two, no law on profiling can be effective unless

         15  there is an honest approach by law enforcement to

         16  eradicate those underlying assumptions I just talked

         17  about that are used in crime detection and

         18  prevention.

         19                 Let me just talk a few minutes about

         20  the trends in profiling that we have seen in our

         21  practice. Increasingly we have seen that minority

         22  youth in the City are being cited for a variety of

         23  quality of life-type violations, minor infractions

         24  that we feel are being done in order to conduct the

         25  search and stop and frisk.
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          2                 Now, while objective empirical data

          3  is not readily available, these trends are clearly

          4  visible in our practice.

          5                 For example, at NDS we have seen a

          6  disproportionate number of minority youth charged

          7  with criminal trespass in the Harlem Housing

          8  project, even when they have made clear to police

          9  officers that the have family or friends that live

         10  in the building.

         11                 Now, one must consider such a

         12  trespass enforcement is similarly handled in more

         13  extensive parts of the City or a greater region.

         14                 I would ask, are young white children

         15  in Long Island getting arrested for trespassing in

         16  their own backyards or neighborhoods?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well, you know

         18  what? Are white people who live next door calling up

         19  and complaining about the young white kids in their

         20  neighborhood? That's a ridiculous assumption. The

         21  reason the police are going there in the first place

         22  for the most part is because the neighborhoods who

         23  live in the building are calling up and saying

         24  there's a mob outside my door, please come. That's

         25  why they show up, not in Long Island with someone
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          2  sitting in their back yard. So I don't get that

          3  whole assumption.

          4                 MR. WAHID: Respectfully I disagree. I

          5  think it's very clear that the police are causing

          6  some of this in their own sense by saying that the

          7  Housing Projects are a high crime neighborhood.

          8                 While there may be more reports of

          9  crime in certain neighborhoods, it doesn't mean that

         10  law enforcement should be then sweeping up all of

         11  the young black males or minority males that they

         12  come across in those neighborhoods.

         13                 They still need particular,

         14  articulated reasonable facts to go ahead and make

         15  those stops, and I think you would also agree with

         16  me there is crime in other areas of the City, white

         17  neighborhoods, that may not be detected because we

         18  don't have as many law enforcement there.

         19                 Targeting of immigrant shop keepers

         20  is another new trend. We have seen that charges such

         21  as possession of counterfeit goods, or not having a

         22  general vending license, appear to be selectively

         23  enforced, such common practice is placing a table on

         24  your sidewalk in front of a store, seems to be

         25  suddenly enforced against certain shop keepers of
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          2  certain background as unlicensed general vending,

          3  while we have not seen the same enforcement against

          4  in other parts of the City with people of different

          5  backgrounds.

          6                 Post-9/11 New York City police

          7  officers are singling out Middle Eastern men, we

          8  have seen, questioning under the assumption that

          9  they may be involved in terrorist activity. Now,

         10  some of this comes from anonymous tips.

         11                 In addition, federal law enforcement

         12  has conscripted the NYPD to assist them in federal

         13  anti-terrorism investigations.

         14                 Now, federal standards for racial

         15  profiling allow for a much more egregious conduct

         16  than we would recognize as allowable here in New

         17  York, and these standards seem to be impacting the

         18  mindset of some local NYPD.

         19                 There are a number of specific cases

         20  we could get into. Quite frankly, I'm just going to

         21  touch on one, just to give you an example.

         22                 At NDS we recently were successful in

         23  having charges dismissed against an African American

         24  client who was sitting in a stairwell in her own

         25  housing project with three other teenagers when they
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          2  were arrested for criminal trespass.

          3                 Subsequent to their arrest, they were

          4  strip searched at the police precinct and again at

          5  Central Booking. Two strip searches. She was 18

          6  years old at the time of her arrest, a special ed

          7  student, and she had never been arrested for in her

          8  life.

          9                 Although her case was eventually

         10  dismissed, the trauma of her arrest and prosecution

         11  and the humiliation of the strip searches will

         12  always be with her. Unfortunately, stories like hers

         13  are not uncommon.

         14                 MS. GROSZ: We're going to move on now

         15  to just some brief comments about the bill. We

         16  commend members of the City Council for proposing

         17  legislation to address this crucial longstanding

         18  issue for New Yorkers. The overall content of the

         19  bill will address racial, religious and ethnic

         20  profiling by law enforcement, and that will enhance

         21  the quality of life for all New Yorkers.

         22                 We specifically commend the Committee

         23  for making the decision to include education and

         24  sensitivity training as a written part of the policy

         25  for law enforcement agencies, because we believe
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          2  this is crucial to addressing the more subtle, the

          3  covert racial, religious and ethnic stereotyping

          4  that we believe is at the heart of the issue, and in

          5  addition we believe the recording and reporting

          6  requirements will provide much needed empirical data

          7  which can help assess the scope of the problem.

          8                 We have several brief

          9  recommendations.

         10                 First, we suggest that we amend the

         11  definition of racial or ethnic profiling to include

         12  the term religious, thus the term throughout the

         13  bill would read racial, religious or ethnic

         14  profiling. In a post-9/11 world it's become clear

         15  that law enforcement may also suspect a person for

         16  their assumed ideology, as well as their appearance.

         17                 Secondly, we recommend that there be

         18  a mechanism in the bill for public comment on the

         19  written policies promulgated and adopted by law

         20  enforcement agencies pursuant to Section 14-302.

         21                 Third, with respect to that same

         22  subsection, the education of cadets and police

         23  officers should be provided in part by community

         24  groups or resources other than law enforcement, and

         25  we believe the stated goals of such education must
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          2  also include addressing the harmful effects of both

          3  the overt and the covert style of profiling.

          4                 Fourth, the statute should be amended

          5  to include the words harmful effects prior to the

          6  term racial profiling in Section 14-302 lines four

          7  through six, and in Section 14-3073.

          8                 Fifth, in Section 14-304 the

          9  reporting requirements include reporting to a number

         10  of City agencies and boards. We suggest that one of

         11  these bodies be mandated the duty of publicly

         12  posting this data and keeping all previous data open

         13  to the public.

         14                 Sixth, we suggest the number of

         15  complaints filed and the results of the

         16  investigation, including the discipline imposed

         17  pursuant to Section 307 be including in the

         18  mandatory reporting requirement in the subsection

         19  304.

         20                 Seventh, a provision should be added

         21  to provide education to the public about this

         22  statute and about how to file complaints pursuant to

         23  the statute.

         24                 Finally, the Patriot Act and other

         25  federal initiatives are not addressed in this
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          2  document. However, to the extent that the NYPD and

          3  other New York City law enforcement agencies work

          4  jointly with federal law enforcement, the New York

          5  City agencies must be held to the standards set

          6  forth in this statute.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you for

          9  those recommendations. Some were very interesting,

         10  such as the one about requiring the data on what

         11  sentences were handed out. I think that's important

         12  also.

         13                 Do either of you, or any of you have

         14  a suggestion, I realize you haven't gone yet, so let

         15  me just ask one question and then you'll go,

         16  regarding what agencies should be covered by this

         17  bill? What law enforcement agency?

         18                 MR. WAHID: In terms of the reporting,

         19  who should be required to do the reporting? Or what

         20  law enforcement agencies? Okay.

         21                 Well, obviously the NYPD, but more

         22  broadly what's happening, there's a lot of

         23  interchange now or joint efforts between different

         24  agencies. It's very difficult then to say that an

         25  agency that works with the NYPD should be excluded,
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          2  even though they're doing similar work.

          3                 I think broadly that any agency that

          4  provides a function similar to the NYPD should be

          5  included.

          6                 One should either define it by the

          7  type of function as opposed to naming the exact

          8  agency and therefore other agencies can be

          9  eventually slotted into that category, and you don't

         10  have to actually name the agency. You have more of a

         11  definition, it's broader, and it allows for

         12  eventually maybe one agency while now is not doing

         13  that particular function that NYPD is doing, but six

         14  months from now or a year from now it may be doing

         15  more of that function.

         16                 So, it allows for some adjustment, as

         17  well as it allows for other agencies that are now

         18  participating in NYPD type detection and prevention

         19  work and eventually will not, maybe funding is going

         20  to change, those agencies will drop out of that

         21  category.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: We're thinking

         23  along the same lines. One of our definitions we're

         24  looking at working on is a definition from Chicago

         25  which basically just encompasses anyone who by
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          2  virtue of their office is vested by law or the duty

          3  to maintain public order or make arrests, so that

          4  would cover whatever agency.

          5                 Were you finished, or did I cut you

          6  off?

          7                 MR. WAHID: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay. Let me

          9  hear from you, Mr. Collazo.

         10                 MR. COLLAZO: Thank you. Good

         11  afternoon, Chairperson Peter Vallone, City Council

         12  Members and citizens of New York.

         13                 I come to you today as a veteran

         14  officer of 16 and a half years at the NYPD, injured

         15  survivor and rescuer of 9/11, as a former First Vice

         16  President and President of Latino Officers

         17  Association of the City of New York and co-founder.

         18                 As a civil rights activist of both

         19  officers of color and communities of color, as a

         20  survivor of former Mayor Giuliani's vindictive and

         21  retaliatory policies, and as a leader of the

         22  National Latino Officers Association and Labor in

         23  the Council, I have in the past spoken and testified

         24  in this very Chamber on issues of police brutality,

         25  violations of civil rights, discrimination, police
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          2  retaliation and deaths for injuries that involve

          3  people such as Baez, Louima, Diallo, and numerous

          4  other victims under the Giuliani Administration.

          5                 I have read the amended Intro. Bill

          6  of 142. It's a good bill. It's a start, but it does

          7  not go far enough. In the age of computers and NYPD

          8  CompStat, we need to have the documentation that

          9  needs to be reported in more detail and accuracy.

         10  When we write a summons, make an arrest or have

         11  units of officers enforcing special operations, we

         12  need to step back and see the results both good and

         13  bad. We need to see those summonses we write, those

         14  arrests that we make, those operations we enforce,

         15  the racial make-up of the officers enforcing these

         16  initiatives.

         17                 This can give us a better

         18  understanding of the officers out there where we are

         19  not asking for identities or sensitive information,

         20  but rather see from an objective point of view if we

         21  are utilizing the officers of color in our

         22  communities, where mistrust is being bred and felt.

         23                 We do not have that in our system

         24  yet. We do not even have a simple check-off box of

         25  the officer's race when an officer writes a summons,
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          2  makes an arrest or racial make-up or when the

          3  officer makes numerous arrests, Citywide operations,

          4  we do document race of the people when we arrest or

          5  have encounters in the street, when we do the stop,

          6  question and frisk forms.

          7                 Racial profiling does exist. It has

          8  proven in New Jersey and in other states in the

          9  United States. This bill needs to be tighter, as

         10  accurate as possible, so we can avoid deaths or

         11  injuries, so we can improve safety and trust and see

         12  where we're going. This information alone can be

         13  used for when neighborhoods complain of racial

         14  profiling, we can see for ourselves if there is an

         15  unfair imbalance of officers enforcing unfairly and

         16  possibly correlate this information with CCRB

         17  complaints or see if we have officers that are

         18  specifically targeting people of color.

         19                 I know we have good, hard-working

         20  police officers out there, but with 9/11 things have

         21  changed. The civil rights complaints are up. We need

         22  to track this now. People's civil rights are being

         23  violated in numerous cities and states. We have

         24  Homeland Security giving very broad powers on issues

         25  of immigration to racial profiling. We need to be
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          2  very careful. The courts not too long ago overturned

          3  a 1985 consent decree on NYPD Department Directive

          4  called Handschu. The Handschu was about a secret

          5  unit in the NYPD that illegally put surveillance on

          6  people of color and groups. That was racial

          7  profiling then. In the wake of September 11th

          8  terrorist attacks, the Bush Administration with the

          9  US Patriot Act and the establishment of the

         10  Department of Homeland Security, has carried out a

         11  sweeping assault of democratic rights targeting in

         12  the first instance immigrants but aimed at the

         13  population as a whole - citizens and non-citizens

         14  alike.

         15                 The effort to lift spying limits on

         16  New York City police is a further expression of the

         17  escalation of this process. We must be very careful,

         18  we do not have to overstep our bounds or violate

         19  civil rights.

         20                 Make no mistake, when and if an

         21  officer racially profiles, he or she is violating

         22  the rights of all people, but more importantly,

         23  people of color.

         24                 I mention this because sections of

         25  14-303, 14-304 and 14-307. This is most important,
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          2  because we need to know which officer and who he or

          3  she is. This needs to be very public, a record of

          4  anyone, or of officers violating this law, we need

          5  to know who would violate Section 1, title 14 of the

          6  Administrative Code for racial or ethnic profiling.

          7                 Even after numerous training that is

          8  given at the Police Academy and in the field, when

          9  no input is being asked by such groups as 100 Blacks

         10  in Law Enforcement, National Latino Officers

         11  Association and Labor Council and Latino Officers

         12  Association City of New York.

         13                 This is important in that recent

         14  settlement by the City on an issue of unfair

         15  discipline of officers of color was announced not

         16  too long ago by Latino Officers Association City of

         17  New York.

         18                 Although the NYPD in the LOA

         19  settlement, which I was involved with prior to

         20  February 2003 is yet to be certified, it does not

         21  change the fact that officers of color were treated,

         22  disciplined and terminated unfairly, a form of

         23  racial profiling, if you will.

         24                 Because if they were not, then we

         25  would not have a multi-million dollar court

                                                            131

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  settlement. If officers of color were being treated

          3  unfairly and differently, than what does that say to

          4  the average citizen on the street who may be

          5  racially profiled?

          6                 This bill needs to be tighter. Ladies

          7  and gentlemen of the City Council, please tighten

          8  the wording on Intro. Bill 142, Section 1 of the

          9  title 14 of the Administrative Code for Racial and

         10  Ethnic Profiling.

         11                 I do not believe we are there yet. We

         12  need to be. And we don't need any loopholes or

         13  questions.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Council Member

         15  Reed.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you, Mr.

         17  Chair.

         18                 I know the time is late. I just want

         19  to be clear, Lieutenant Gonzalez -- first of all,

         20  thank all of you for your testimony -- your

         21  organization and you are in support of this

         22  legislation; is that right?

         23                 LIEUTENANT GONZALEZ: Well, we're in

         24  support of legislation, however, there are changes

         25  that need to be -- we feel recommendations to the
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          2  Council before it's actually written and approved.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: But you feel

          4  fundamentally doesn't go far enough.

          5                 LIEUTENANT GONZALEZ: No, it doesn't.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: But I guess, I

          7  read paragraph two of your testimony, you were kind

          8  enough to try to encapsulate it, but in that, I have

          9  a sense, so just trying to get on the record --

         10                 LIEUTENANT GONZALEZ: Okay.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: -- That your

         12  organization is in principle in support of what

         13  we're trying to get done.

         14                 LIEUTENANT GONZALEZ: Right.

         15  Absolutely.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I think also

         17  when we reintroduced this, we said are there

         18  agencies; two reasons, one, because we didn't -- I

         19  didn't as the author of this bill, let's just be

         20  plain --

         21                 LIEUTENANT GONZALEZ: Right.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Did not want it

         23  to look like we were just falling, you know, putting

         24  the force of law on the Police Department.

         25                 LIEUTENANT GONZALEZ: Right.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Particularly in

          3  this environment where I think this Police

          4  Commissioner and this Mayor are trying to work with

          5  the community.

          6                 LIEUTENANT GONZALEZ: Right.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: On the other

          8  hand, given, as you said, the new world environment

          9  that we're working in, there are other law

         10  enforcement agencies, as I think it was articulated

         11  quite well -- sorry, sir, I forgot your name -- but

         12  that we may not have the authority of all of these

         13  agencies because they're not all local agencies. We

         14  can say by law what the Police Department can do,

         15  but the point is, and the Chair has worked with me

         16  and keeps saying to me, well, what specific

         17  agencies, and I appreciate with his Counsel --

         18                 MR. COLLAZO: What we would hope as an

         19  organization would be all of those agencies that are

         20  under the control of the City Council, such as

         21  Sanitation, which was mentioned earlier.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Yes, exactly.

         23  Those that have the ability to stop somebody on the

         24  street.

         25                 MR. COLLAZO: Absolutely. And any
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          2  individual who has that authority under criminal

          3  procedure law, any peace officer, any police

          4  officer, who actually has the ability to actually

          5  engage in stop, question and frisk should be held

          6  accountable, and maybe this is a start, or this is a

          7  beginning, that could go across the nation and hold

          8  every agency throughout the nation, or again, every

          9  agency throughout the nation accountable, you know,

         10  legally, you know, through agencies --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I understand.

         12                 MR. COLLAZO: And so on and so forth.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you. Thank

         14  you all very much.

         15                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Yes, thank you

         17  all. There were some very good suggestions there,

         18  some I agree, some I obviously don't, but I don't

         19  agree with everything the Police Department said

         20  either.

         21                 We will be using your testimony and

         22  your insight when we draft this bill. So, thank you

         23  all very much for coming down.

         24                 I believe that is it. So, thank you

         25  all for participating. Thank you, Sponsor Reed, for
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          2  coming up with this, and I look forward to

          3  continuing to work on it.

          4                 We're adjourned.

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 3:36 p.m.)
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